

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Biochimica et Biophysica Acta BBBAA www.elsevier.com/locate/bbamem

Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1778 (2008) 729-756

Review

Crosstalk of tight junction components with signaling pathways

Lorenza González-Mariscal*, Rocio Tapia¹, David Chamorro¹

Center for Research and Advanced Studies (Cinvestav), Department of Physiology, Biophysics and Neuroscience, Ave. Instituto Politécnico Nacional 2508, México D. F. 07360, México

Received 30 May 2007; received in revised form 3 August 2007; accepted 16 August 2007 Available online 4 September 2007

Abstract

Tight junctions (TJs) regulate the passage of ions and molecules through the paracellular pathway in epithelial and endothelial cells. TJs are highly dynamic structures whose degree of sealing varies according to external stimuli, physiological and pathological conditions. In this review we analyze how the crosstalk of protein kinase C, protein kinase A, myosin light chain kinase, mitogen-activated protein kinases, phosphoinositide 3-kinase and Rho signaling pathways is involved in TJ regulation triggered by diverse stimuli. We also report how the phosphorylation of the main TJ components, claudins, occludin and ZO proteins, impacts epithelial and endothelial cell function.

© 2007 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Tight junction; Claudin; Occludin; ZO-1; MAPK; PI3K; AKT; Rho; MLCK; PKC; PKA; PKG

Abbreviations: ANP, atrial natriuretic peptide; ARPE-19, human retinal pigment epithelial cell line; AsPC-1, human pancreatic cancer cell line; BAEC, bovine aortic endothelial cells (primary culture); BBB, blood-brain barrier; BPAEC, bovine pulmonary artery endothelial cell line; BRB, blood retinal barrier; C3, transferase from Clostridium botulinum; Caco-2, human colonic adenocarcinoma cell line; CAPAN-2, human pancreas epithelial cell line; CK2, casein kinase 2; Con8, rat mammary tumor epithelial cell line; CRIB, Cdc42 and Rac interaction binding; CRM1, chromosomal region maintenance 1; 94D, mouse cortical collecting Duct epithelial cell line; DAG, diacylglycerol; DHT, dihydrotestosterone; DiC8, phosphatidyl inositol 3,4,5-triphosphate; E₂, estradiol; EcN, Escherichia coli Nissle; ECT₂, A guanine nucleotide exchange factor; EGF, epidermal growth factor; EGTA, ethylene glycol tetraacetic acid; EHEC, enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli; EMT, epithelial mesenchymal transition; EPEC, enteropathogenic Escherichia coli; ERK, extracellular signal-regulated kinase; FAK, focal adhesion kinase; FBS, fetal bovine serum; FF, freeze-fracture; FGF, fibroblast growth factor; FHHNC, familial hypomagnesemia with hypercalciuria and nephrocalcinosis; GC, guanylate cyclase; GEF-H1, A guanine nucleotide exchange factor; GPI, glycosyl phosphatidyl inositol; GSK-3B, glycogen synthase kinase 3 beta; HBMEC, human brain microvascular endothelial cell line; HepG2, hepatic cell line; HGF, hepatocyte growth factor; HMEC, human dermal microvascular endothelial cell line; HPAEC, human pulmonary artery endothelial cell line; HT-29, human colon adenocarcinoma cell line; HUVEC, human umbilical cord endothelial cell line; ICM, inner cell mass; IEC-6, rat small intestine epithelial cell line; IFNγ, interferon gamma; IL-17, interleukine 17; JNK, c-Jun N-terminal kinase; LC, low calcium (1-5 μM Ca²⁺); Lgl, lethal giant larva; LLC-PK1, pig renal cell line; LPA, lysophosphatidic acid; MAGUK, membrane-associated guanylate kinase; MAPK, mitogen-activated protein kinase; MARCKs, myristoylated alanine-rich C kinase susbstrate; MDCK, Madin-Darby canine kidney cell line; 2ME, 2 methoxyestradiol; ML7, 1-(5iodonaphthalene 1-sulfonyl)-1H-hexadydro-1,4-iazepine HCl; ML9, 1-(5-cloronaphthalene 1-sulfonyl)-1H-hexadydro-1,4-diazepine HCl; MLC2, regulatory myosin light chain; MYPT, myosin phosphatase target subunit; NC, normal calcium (1.8 mM Ca2+); NES, nuclear export signal; NLS, nuclear localization signal; NO, nitric oxide; NOS, nitric oxide synthase; N-WASP, neuronal Wiskott Aldrich syndrome protein; OmpA, outer membrane protein A; PAR-2, protease-activated receptor 2; PB1, Phox and Bem1p; PC1, Hamster pancreatic ductal carcinoma cell line; PHAII, pseudohypoaldosteronism type two; PI3K, phosphoinositide 3-kinase; PKA, protein kinase A; PKC, protein kinase C; PKG, protein kinase G; PLC γ, phospholipase C gamma; PLGF-1, placental growth factor 1; PLF, polyp-like foci; PMA, phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate; POI, post-flight orthostatic intolerance; PP1, protein phosphatase 1; PP2A, protein phosphatase 2A; PP2B, protein phosphatase 2B; REC, retinal endothelial cells; RLE, rat lung endothelial cell line; ROMK, apical potassium channel; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SARA, Smad anchor for receptor activation protein; SGLT1, sodium glucose cotransporter; T-84, human colorectal carcinoma cell line; TAL, thick ascending limb of Henle; TEM, transmission electron microscopy; TER, transpithelial electrical resistance; TGFB, transforming growth factor beta; TJ, tight junction; TLR2, Toll-like receptor 2; TNFa, tumor necrosis factor alpha; TPA, 12-O-tetradecanoyl phorbol-13-acetate; VAC, vacuolar apical compartment; VE-cadherin, endothelial cadherin; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor; VEGFR-2, vascular endothelial growth factor receptor; WB-F344, rat liver epithelial cell line; WNK, with no lysine kinase; Zot, zonula occludens toxin

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +52 55 5061 3966; fax: +52 55 5061 3754.

E-mail address: lorenza@fisio.cinvestav.mx (L. González-Mariscal).

¹ Rocio Tapia and David Chamorro contributed equally.

Contents

1.	. Introduction						
2.	Brief	Brief description of the molecular constituents of the TJ					
	2.1.	ZO proteins of the TJ	31				
	2.2.	Claudins	31				
	2.3.	Occludin	31				
3.	TJs are regulated by phosphorylation						
	3.1.	PKC signaling	32				
		3.1.1. PKC and TJ barrier function	32				
		3.1.2. PKC and the development of cell polarity	34				
	3.2.	PKA and PKG signaling to TJs	34				
	3.3.	TJs and phosphatases PP1, PP2A and PP2B	36				
	3.4.	Rho signaling and TJ function	36				
	3.5.	Myosin light chain kinase and TJs	38				
	3.6.	MAP signaling and TJs	39				
	3.7.	PI3K/Akt pathway and TJs.	42				
4.	Phos	phorylation of specific TJ proteins	42				
	4.1.	ZO proteins	42				
	4.2.	Claudins	43				
		4.2.1. Phosphorylation of Thr206 in claudin-1 randomizes the direction of heart looping	43				
		4.2.2. Thr phosphorylation of claudin-5 by PKA increases the barrier function of brain endothelia and loosens lung					
		endothelial TJs	44				
		4.2.3. Absence of phosphorylation of claudin-16 at Ser217 by PKA targets the protein to the lysosome	45				
		4.2.4. PKA phosphorylation of Thr192 in claudin-3 perturbs the barrier function of TJs	46				
		4.2.5. Phosphorylation by MAPK of Thr203 in claudin-1 is crucial for the barrier function of TJs	46				
		4.2.6. Phosphorylation of claudins-1 and -4 by WNK enzymes generates a chloride shunt in the distal nephron proposed					
		to contribute to the pathogenesis of pseudohypoaldosteronism type II (PHAII)	46				
		4.2.7. Phosphorylation of claudin-4 at Tyr208 by EphA2 enhances paracellular permeability	46				
	4.3.	Occludin	47				
		4.3.1. Expression of different occludin bands depends on the state of cell-cell contact	47				
		4.3.2. Occludin phosphorylation diminishes during TJ disassembly	47				
		4.3.3. VEGF induces the breakdown of the blood-retinal barrier (BRB) and triggers occludin phosphorylation 74	47				
		4.3.4. Rho/ROCK and MLCK signaling regulates occludin phosphorylation	47				
		4.3.5. Occludin is a phosphorylation target of nPKCδ and casein kinases 2 and Iε	48				
		4.3.6. Tyrosine phosphorylation of occludin compromises barrier integrity of TJs	48				
5.	Conc	luding remarks	48				
Ack	nowled	dgements	48				
Ref	erences	3	48				

1. Introduction

Epithelia are the frontier between the internal milieu of the organism and the external environment constituted either by the air or water that surrounds the individual in case of the skin, or the content of an internal cavity or duct. In multicellular organisms, ducts and cavities covered by epithelia, allow the individual to maintain in a separated fashion contents so diverse as urine, blood, gastric juice, bile, milk etc. The vectorial transport of ions, water and molecules through epithelia regulates the composition of body fluids and in consequence the uptake and removal of multiple ions and substances from the body. In order to traverse an epithelium two ways are available: the transcellular and the paracellular routes. To cross through the transcellular pathway, the molecule needs to be hydrophobic to traverse the plasma membrane or alternatively to count with a specific transport mechanism such as a channel, pump, carrier or cotransporter. Passage through the paracellular route is instead regulated by a structure named the tight junction (TJ), located at the limit between the apical membrane facing the lumen and the basolateral surface in contact with the interior of the organism. TJs observed by transmission electron microscopy (TEM) appear as sites where the intercellular space between neighboring cells is obliterated and the adjoining membranes appear to fuse [1]. By freeze–fracture (FF) TJs are detected as a network of strands that encircles the cell bellow the apical surface [2].

The barrier function of TJs allows this structure to regulate by size and charge the transit of ions and molecules through the paracellular route [3]. The permeability through the paracellular pathway can be evaluated by two methods, the measurement of transepithelial electrical resistance (TER) [4] and the flux of tracers that can be detected either for being electron-dense (e.g., lanthanum, ruthenium red) and hence observable by the electron microscope or for having a fluorescent (e.g., FITC–dextran) or radioactive label (e.g., ³H-mannitol). The size of the TJ pores can be evaluated employing paracellular tracers of different sizes while the ionic selectivity of the TJ can be determined measuring dilution potentials. Besides functioning as a barrier, TJs work as a fence that limits the free movement of lipids and proteins within the plasma membrane between the apical and the basal surface [5,6]. Recently, another role for TJ has begun to be unraveled. It involves the control of cell proliferation and gene expression and requires the shuttling of TJ associated proteins from the plasma membrane to the nucleus [7].

TJs are integrated by a complex array of integral and peripheral proteins which associate to diverse molecules involved in signaling cascades, such as G proteins, kinases and phosphatases. These interactions allow the cells to transmit information on the degree of cell–cell contact to the cell interior. A significant body of evidence has accumulated in recent years indicating that the crosstalk of diverse signaling pathways regulate the formation as well as the disassembly of TJs. In this review we will focus on how several signaling pathways modulate the barrier function of the junction and how particular molecular constituents of the TJ are phosphorylated by diverse kinases. To accomplish this task we will start by providing a brief description of the main TJ proteins.

2. Brief description of the molecular constituents of the TJ

TJs are multiprotein complexes composed of integral proteins that associate with cytoplasmic plaque proteins. The former mediate cell–cell adhesion, while the latter function as a bridge between the TJ and the actin cytoskeleton (for extensive reviews, see [8,9]). Here we will only describe the main characteristics of the ZO proteins, occludin and claudins since their interaction with kinases, phosphatases and small G proteins has been more thoroughly studied.

2.1. ZO proteins of the TJ

ZO-1, ZO-2 and ZO-3 are members of the MAGUK (membrane-associated guanylate kinase) protein family and are an important subgroup of the PDZ proteins of the TJ (for reviews, see [10,8]). ZO proteins are identified for having an amino domain that contains the characteristic features of all MAGUK proteins: PDZ domains, followed by SH3 and GuK regions; and a carboxyl end that includes an acidic domain and a proline-rich region. In ZO-3 the latter is located between PDZ-2 and PDZ-3.

ZOs are peripherally associated membrane proteins whose name derives from the initials of zonula occludens, the Latin name for TJs, and whose number reflects the order in which they were originally identified (for a review on these proteins, see [10]). These proteins interact together and anchor membrane proteins like claudins, occludin and JAMs to the actin cytoskeleton. ZO proteins are scaffolds that establish numerous protein–protein interactions that cluster at the TJ diverse kinases, phosphatases, small G proteins and nuclear and transcription factors [11]. ZO-1, ZO-2 and ZO-3 contain several nuclear localization and exportation signals (NLS and NES) [11]. ZO-1 and ZO-2 concentrate at the nucleus when subjected to adverse conditions such as chemical stress or mechanical injury, or when cells are cultured at a sparse density [12–14]. ZO-1 and ZO-2 associate with proteins involved in the regulation of gene transcription and cell proliferation such as the transcription factors ZONAB [15], Jun, Fos, C/EBP [16] and KyoT2 [17], the chromatin component SAF-B involved in the assembly of transcriptosomes [14], the cell cycle regulator Cyclin D1 [18] and the heat shock protein Apg-2 [19].

2.2. Claudins

Claudins constitute a family of more than 20 proteins with four transmembrane domains [20]. They are the major component of TJ strands observed by FF. Claudins have two extracellular loops that display variability in the distribution and number of charged residues. This feature is crucial as it determines the paracellular ionic selectivity of the TJ. Accordingly, some claudins form paracellular ion channels (e.g., claudin-2, is a cation channel [21], and claudin-16 is a Mg^2 channel [22]) while others constitute paracellular ion barriers (e.g., claudin-8 reduces paracellular Na⁺ permeability [23]). Although claudins are found in all epithelial and endothelial cells, their tissue distribution is specific. For example, the mammalian nephron displays a wide spectrum of claudins including claudins-1, -2, -3, -4, -7, -8, -10, -11, -14 and -16 whose distribution varies in each tubular segment (e.g., the leakier segment of the nephron expresses claudin-2, whereas the tighter distal tubules exhibit claudins-7 and -8) [24,25]. Endothelial cells also display a claudin-specific distribution. Thus endothelial cells of the brain express claudins-3, -5 and -12 [26-28], kidney endothelia have claudins-5 and -15 [24,27], while placental endothelia exhibit claudins-1, -3 and -5 [29,30]. The expression of claudins also varies along the vascular tree. Thus in the placenta the expression of claudins-1 and -3 diminishes or is even absent in the smaller vessels, while the expression of claudin-5 is strong in some vessels and absent from others even of a similar width [29].

2.3. Occludin

Occludin is a TJ protein whose physiological role still remains controversial. This tetraspan protein has a first extracellular loop enriched with tyrosine and glycine residues and a second one full of tyrosines. Occludin is present in the filaments that constitute TJs [31] and its overexpression or mutations severely affect TER [32,33], yet occludin knock-out mice are viable and exhibit TJs with an apparent normal morphology [34].

3. TJs are regulated by phosphorylation

The relationship between the degree of protein phosphorylation and TJ function was first analyzed in the late 1980s by Stevenson et al. [35], demonstrating how in low resistance cells the TJ protein ZO-1 is significantly more phosphorylated than in high resistance monolayers. Since then an enormous amount of research has been done on the phosphorylation of TJ proteins. For many years, much of the results obtained remained controversial due to the fact that phosphorylation can be achieved by the action of different kinases over distinct residues on the same TJ proteins. These results are now better understood thanks to the use of inhibitors and stimulators specific for certain kinase isoforms and to the analysis by point mutation of particular phosphorylated residues.

3.1. PKC signaling

Protein kinase C (PKC) has long been recognized to affect epithelial and endothelial barriers. PKC consists of a family of Ser/Thr-specific kinases which includes 12 known isozymes that can be classified into three subfamilies: conventional (α , β 1, β 2 and γ), novel (δ , ε , θ , η and μ) and atypical (λ , τ and ζ). These isoforms differ in their mechanism of action, subcellular distribution, substrate type and expression. Thus conventional isoforms (cPKC) are both Ca2+ and diacylglycerol (DAG) dependent, novel isoforms (nPKC) are Ca2+ independent but DAG dependent while the atypical PKC isoenzymes (aPKC) are neither Ca²⁺ nor DAG dependent. At the plasma membrane the nPKC isoenzymes δ and θ [36], and the atypical isoforms λ and ζ [36–42], are found associated to TJ proteins (Table 1). PKC activity can be regulated by other PKCs. Therefore a given PKC like the cPKC α may be regulating TJs even though it does not itself localize directly to the TJ.

3.1.1. PKC and TJ barrier function

The initial studies designed to elucidate the role of PKC on TJ function were performed employing stimulators and inhibitors that acted upon several subfamilies of PKC isoforms. Therefore understanding the role of specific PKC isozymes on TJs became particularly complex and required the comparison of results obtained with various PKC affecting drugs on different biological systems.

Table 1

Kinases and phosphatases present at the T	J
---	---

Kinase/ Phosphatase	Isoform	Cell or tissue	Associated to TJ protein	References
РКС	δ, θ, λ and ζ	Mouse trophoectoderm	ZO-1α+	[36]
	λ	Epidermis	Par3/Par6 complex	[37]
		MDCK and intestinal epithelia	ASIP/Par3	[38]
		MDCK	ZO-2	[39]
	ζ	MDCK, Caco-2	ZO-1	[40,41]
		MDCK	ZO-2	[39]
	ζ	T-84	Occludin	[42]
CK	Iε	HUVEC	Occludin	[260]
ERK1		Caco-2	Occludin	[160]
WNK4		Distal nephron		[229]
c-Yes		MDCK, T-84	Occludin	[269,42]
PI3K		T-84, Caco-2	Occludin	[42,209]
		Con8	ZO-1	[162]
PP2A		MDCK	ZO-1, occludin, claudin-1	[125]
		Caco-2	Occludin p-Thr residues	[126]
PP1		Caco-2	Occludin p-Ser residues	[126]

Epithelial cell lines: MDCK, dog renal; Caco-2, human colon; T-84, human colon; Con8, rat mammary tumor. Endothelial cell line: HUVEC, human umbilical cord.

The participation of PKC in TJ assembly is demonstrated by observing that (1) diC8, a DAG analogue that stimulates conventional and novel PKC, triggers the translocation of TJ proteins to the cell borders [43,44]; (2) when cells cultured in low calcium media (LC, $1-5 \mu M Ca^{2+}$) are switched to normal calcium (NC, 1.8 mM) media, TER development can be hampered by inhibitors of conventional and novel PKC such as staurosporine, calphostin C and Gö6850, and by pan-PKC inhibitors like GF-109203X and H7 [40,44–47]; (3) EGF and fetal bovine serum (FBS) promote TJ assembly in cancerous cells in a process that can be reversed with calphostin C and Gö6850 [48]; and (4) the bacteria *Helicobacter pylori* disrupts the barrier function of intestinal epithelial cells through a process inhibited by PMA an activator of novel and conventional PKCs [49].

The participation of PKCs on TJ disassembly has been studied employing diverse protocols that trigger TJ disruption such as oxidative stress [50]; removal of Ca^{2+} from the media [39,44,51-53]; elevation of intracellular Ca²⁺ by treatment with the Ca²⁺ ionophore A23187 [54], incubation with different agents such as phorbol esters [55,56]; hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) [57] and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) [58]; the hormone vasopressin [59]; cytokines tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α) and interferon γ (IFN γ) [60]; HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein gp120 [61]; toxins Zot (zonula occludens toxin), from Vibrio cholera [62] and A from Clostridium difficile [63], and incubation with OmpA (outer membrane protein A)-positive Escherichia coli [64] or enterohemorrhagic E. coli (EHEC) [65]. These studies have revealed that inhibitors of classical and novel PKCs like staurosporine, Gö6850 and CGP41251, as well as the pan-PKC inhibitors GF-109203X and H7 attenuate the opening of TJs. Interestingly some of these studies have further shown that TJ opening is accompanied by the translocation of cPKC α from the cytoplasm to the plasma membrane [66-69,58,64,62]. In fact, chronic exposure of epithelial LLC-PK1 cells to phorbol esters results in a partial TER recovery and a reciprocal change in mannitol permeability. These effects triggered by the chronic exposure to phorbol esters are due to the downregulation of cPKCa [68,69].

The effect of phorbol esters that stimulate both cPKC and nPKC varies on different biological systems. Thus, phorbol esters improve the TJ barrier function in colon carcinoma (HT-29) cells [70] and in a certain clone of pig renal cells (LLC-PK1A) [71]. In mouse pre-implantation embryo phorbol esters stimulates membrane assembly of ZO-1 isoform α + [72]. Instead the acute treatment with phorbol esters induces in diverse epithelial cell lines like LLC-PK1 (renal), MDCK (renal), T-84 (intestine) and HepG2 (hepatic) a decrease in the barrier function of the TJ manifested by a drop in the TER, an increased paracellular permeability, the disappearance of TJ proteins from the cell borders, as well as the appearance of a disorganized pattern of TJ strands [54,56-58,66,67,71,73-75]. In LLC-PK1 cultures chronic treatment with phorbol esters triggers the abovementioned recovery of TER as well as the appearance of multilayered polyp-like foci (PLFs), across the otherwise one cell layer thick cell sheets. These PLFs have TJs permeable to ruthenium red and exhibit cPKC α in the membrane-associated

compartment, in contrast to the adjacent morphologically normal epithelium that has sealed TJs and no discernible cPKC α expression [68,69]. In the choroid plexus epithelium the alteration of TJs induced by phorbol esters can be blocked with Rottlerin, a specific inhibitor of nPKC δ , thus suggesting participation of this isozyme in TJ disassembly [76].

The role played by PKC δ and α on TJs is complex and seems to vary according to the cellular context. For example, the overexpression nPKC δ in renal LLC-PK1 cells exerts a negative effect on the TJ barrier [73]. In contrast rottlerin blocks in MDCK cells the formation of the TJ barrier triggered by Ca²⁺ [44], and in the intestinal epithelial cells HT-29 and Caco-2, the stimulation of Toll-like receptors 2 (TLR2) with specific ligands leads to the activation of the cPKC α and the nPKC δ , the development of an enhanced TER and the translocation of ZO-1 to the TJ [77]. These effects could be blocked with rottlerin and the cPKC inhibitor Gö6976. Taken together these results indicate that in some tissues like the choroid plexus epithelium and LLC-PK1 cells, nPKC δ and cPKC α promote TJ degradation while in others such as HT-29, Caco-2 and MDCK these isozymes favor TJ formation (Fig. 1).

The importance on TJ formation of novel and atypical PKC isoforms δ and ζ has been highlighted in studies done in mouse pre-implantation embryos where these isozymes concentrate at the TJ [36]. In immunosurgical isolated inner cell masses (ICM), membrane assembly of ZO-1 α + and ZO-2 triggered by indolactam, an alkaloid activator of cPKC and nPKC isoenzymes, and of ZO-1 α + elicited by TPA, can be blocked with the pan-PKC inhibitor Gö6983, and the conventional and novel inhibitors Ro-31-8220 and Ro-31-8425, but not by Gö6976, an inhibitor of cPKC isoforms [72]. These results thus suggest that nPKC δ and aPKC but not cPKCs, play a central role in TJ formation (Fig. 1). This proposal was further confirmed when specific inhibitors of nPKC δ (translocation inhibitor peptide)

and aPKC ζ (pseudosubstrate peptide) blocked the assembly of ZO-2, and inhibiting the activity of aPKC ζ attenuated ZO-1 α + assembly [78]. In contrast to these observations, *E. coli* Nissle 1917 (EcN), which has been employed for decades for the treatment and prevention of intestinal disorders in Central Europe, restores the epithelial barrier disruption generated by enteropathogenic *E. coli* (EPEC) strain, by silencing the aPKC ζ and triggering the enhanced expression of ZO-2 and its redistribution towards the cell borders [79].

nPKC θ also appears to be crucial for TJ stability as its under or overexpression in Caco-2 cells reduces the monolayer barrier function, the presence of claudins-1 and -4 at the plasma membrane as well as their degree of serine and threonine phosphorylation [80].

Bryostatin 1, a non-phorbol ester stimulator of cPKC α , and the nPKC ε and δ , is a relatively novel pharmacological tool to uncover the role that different PKC isoforms play in junction physiology. Thus in LLC-PK1 epithelial cells, bryostatin 1 causes only a 30% decrease in TER which spontaneously reverses after 5 h. This effect can be explained by the fact that in contrast to TPA, bryostatin 1 triggers a slower translocation of cPKC α from the cytosol to the membrane and a much more rapid downregulation of cPKC α , with disappearance from this compartment after only 6 h [67]. Moreover, in the human intestinal cell line T-84, bryostatin 1 increases TER, shifts the subcellular distribution of claudin-1 and ZO-2 from a detergent soluble to an insoluble fraction and triggers the appearance of phosphorylated occludin [81]. Since bryostatin 1 induces rapid and sustained activation of the δ and ϵ nPKC isozymes in T-84 cells after 30 min and only activates cPKC α after 3–4 h followed by downregulation [82], it has been proposed that the activation of either nPKC δ or ε triggers the increased TER. However, since bryostatin 1 effect can be attenuated with the novel and cPKC inhibitor Gö6850, but not with the cPKC

TJ opening

.

PKC isozymes	PKC isozymes
Conventional:	Conventional:
• α (Hepatocytes, T-84, LLC-PK1, human	• α (HT-29 and Caco-2)
HBMEC, IEC6 and brain endothelia)	Novel:
• βII (Brain endothelia)	• $\pmb{\delta}$ (MDCK, ICM, HT-29, and Caco-2)
Novel:	• ε (T-84)
• $\pmb{\delta}$ (Choroid plexus and LLC-PK1)	Atypical:
• θ (Caco-2)	• ζ (ICM and T-84)
Atypical:	• λ (Epidermis)
• ζ/λ (Brain endothelia)	

TJ assembly

Fig. 1. Different PKC isozymes are involved in TJ opening and assembly. The name of the PKC isozyme involved and the cell line or tissue where the kinase effect was tested is indicated.

inhibitor Gö6976 or the nPKC δ inhibitor rottlerin, it has been concluded that nPKC ϵ signaling promotes the barrier function of TJs [81].

Another evidence that suggests the participation of different PKC families on TJ formation and disruption arose with the observation that in MDCK cells the phosphorylation of occludin and the appearance of TJ proteins at the cell borders triggered by diC8 are potentiated by Gö6976, an inhibitor of cPKCs, and blocked by rottlerin, an inhibitor of the nPKC δ .

In summary we can conclude that in general cPKC participate in junctional disassembly while novel isoforms regulate junction formation [44]. However, since contradictory effects are found in different cell models, both cultured cell lines and tissue, in Fig. 1 we provide a scheme that summarizes which PKC isozyme promotes TJ opening or assembly in each particular cell system.

3.1.2. PKC and the development of cell polarity

Apicobasal polarity is a crucial characteristic of epithelia that allows the vectorial transport of ions and molecules between the external media and the interior of the organism. Three molecular complexes are responsible for cell polarity: Par3/Par6/aPKC, Crumbs/Pals/PATJ and Scribble/Disc Large/Lethal Giant Larvae (Lgl). Here we will concentrate on the first as we are particularly interested in analyzing the impact of kinases on the regulation of TJ formation, and since Par6 and aPKC regulate the other two polarity complexes [83–85].

Par3/Par6/aPKC is an evolutionary conserved complex crucial for anterior-posterior polarity in *Caenorhabditis elegans* and the apical-basal polarity of epithelial cells and neuroblasts in *Drosophila melanogaster* [86,87]. In mammalian epithelial cells, this complex is found at the apical end of the junctional complex where TJs are located. Introduction of a kinase defective aPKC mutant blocks the contact induced formation of junctional structures and inhibits the development of cell surface polarity [88,89]. Par3 exhibits an aPKC binding site, and a PKC phosphorylation site (Ser827) that becomes phosphorylated presumably by the aPKC during the initial phase of TJ formation [90]. Par3 associates directly with the TJ protein JAM and this interaction appears to tether the Par3/Par6/ aPKC complex to TJs [91] (Fig. 2).

Par6 is a scaffolding protein whose single PDZ domain associates with the N-terminal PDZ of Par3, a protein containing 3 PDZ domains. At the amino terminal portion of Par6, a PB1 (Phox and Bem1p) region is located that heterodimerizes with a PB1 domain present in aPKC. A CRIB motif present in Par6, downstream of the PB1 domain, associates with active Rho proteins. This interaction enhances the kinase activity of the aPKC [89]. ECT2, a guanine nucleotide exchange factor, interacts directly with Par6 and its overexpression stimulates PKCζ activity [92]. In confluent MDCK cells ECT2 is detected in cell-cell junctions and when cells are grown in LC medium, a condition where TJs and adherens junctions are lost, the amount of ECT2 decreases and the protein concentrates at the nucleus instead of the cell borders [92]. The importance of ECT2 in cell polarization is highlighted by observing that dominant negative or constitutively active forms of ECT2 inhibit normal cyst

formation in MDCK cells cultured in three-dimensional collagen gels, due to a blockade in the selective elimination of cells at the center of cysts [93].

A crosstalk between the three polarity complexes has been detected. This situation is particularly interesting since the tumor suppressor Lgl concentrates in polarized epithelial cells, at the basolateral membrane domain, whereas the Par3/Par6/aPKC complex localizes at the TJ region. The key for understanding the interaction of these physically separated complexes lies in observing that the PDZ domain of Par6 selectively interacts with either Lgl or Par3 [84] (Fig. 2). Thus initial cell contacts recruit aPKC λ /Par6/Lgl complexes to the cell–cell contact region. Interaction of Cdc42-GTP with Par6 activates the aPKC λ , triggering the phosphorylation and subsequent segregation of Lgl from the Par6/aPKC λ complex. In consequence Lgl remains confined to the lateral membrane region and the formation of the Par3/Par6/aPKC λ complex that induces TJ formation is promoted.

aPKC and Lgl appear to act antagonistically in the regulation of the apicobasal polarity in early vertebrate development [94]. Thus, in frog blastomeres the overexpression of aPKC expands the apical domain at the expense of the basolateral while the loss of aPKC function or the increased expression of Lgl causes expansion of the basolateral domain. When aPKC is overexpressed, the TJ is repositioned to the new apico-basolateral interface while it is lost when the aPKC is non-functional. The overexpression of Crumbs, a target of aPKC, causes apicalisation similar to that observed with aPKC.

The establishment of the Crumbs/Pals/PATJ complex is affected by the Par6/aPKC complex since the association of Cdc42-GTP to Par6 regulates the interaction of the amino terminus of Pals1 with the PDZ domain of Par6 [85]. This association affects the formation of the Crumbs/Pals/PATJ complex, as it competes PATJ binding to Pals1. Furthermore, aPKC directly associates to both Crumbs and PATJ, and the former is a phosphorylation target of aPKC. This phosphorylation is required for the development of epithelial cell polarity in *Drosophila* [95].

In endothelial cells, Par3 and Par6 form a complex with endothelial cadherin (VE-cadherin) that lacks aPKC. Yet this complex localizes to adherens junctions and promotes cellular polarization [96].

3.2. PKA and PKG signaling to TJs

Signaling by protein kinase A (PKA) has long been known to regulate both the assembly and opening of the paracellular route in epithelial and endothelial cells. PKA activity is promoted by treatment with permeable cAMP (e.g., dibutyryl cAMP) or with drugs that activate the enzyme adenylyl cyclase (e.g., forskolin), or that inhibit the phosphodiesterase (e.g., xanthines), and in consequence raise the intracellular level of cAMP.

PKA activation as well as phosphomimetic mutations done in PKA targets sites of TJ proteins block the development of the TJ barrier during a Ca^{2+} switch in MDCK and human ovary cells [45,97], lower the TER of gallbladder, Sertoli and MDCK cells [98–100] and induce size selective loosening in



Fig. 2. Schematic model of interaction of aPKC with protein complexes involved in the genesis of cell polarity in epithelial cells. Upon establishment of the initial cellcell contacts activated Cdc42 enhances aPKC activity, phosphorylating Lgl. This phosphorylation segregates Lgl from the Par6/aPKC complex promoting the formation of a new complex integrated by Par6/aPKC/Par3 that binds to the TJ protein JAM and promotes TJ formation. Segregated Lgl remains in the lateral membrane promoting the growth of this membrane domain.

lung endothelia [101]. Accordingly PKA inhibitors H-89 and HA-1104 preserve the TJ barrier of mammary epithelial cells [102] and block the hyperphosphorylation of ZO-2 in MDCK cells [39], upon removal of Ca^{2+} from the extracellular medium.

In the BBB astrocytes surround endothelial cells providing them with a biochemical support. Culture models of endothelial brain cells have a low TER of 10–120 Ω cm² and form TJ networks of low complexity [103]. TER doubles when the cells are cultured with astrocyte conditioned media or with astrocytes, but even a greater effect is obtained by increasing intracellular cAMP, reaching TER values as high as 600 Ω cm² [104,105]. cAMP stabilizes TJs, decreases permeability and increases the complexity of junctional strands in a rapid and reversible manner [104–107]. The addition of astrocyte conditioned medium together with cAMP changes the association of brain endothelial junctional particles, from the E to the P face of the plasma membrane, resembling the association pattern observed in epithelial TJs [107,108]. In certain epithelia like thyrocytes, hepatocytes and in the colon epithelial cell line T-84, PKA activation promotes the reestablishment of the TJ barrier triggered by a Ca²⁺ switch [109] and reverses TJ disruption generated by oxidative stress [50] and extracellular Ca²⁺ removal [110]. In invertebrates a somewhat similar effect is detected. Thus in the early and mid-vitellogenic follicles of the insect *Hyalophora cecropia*, treatment with cAMP transforms the loosely organized follicle cells that allow the intercellular movement of vitellogenin to the oocyte surface, into a tight epithelium [111].

Rab 13 works as a link between PKA signaling and TJ assembly [112]. This GTPase is recruited to cell–cell contacts at an early stage of TJ assembly, binds to PKA, inhibits its activity and delays the arrival of claudin-1 and ZO-1 to the TJ.

In summary we can conclude that in brain endothelial cells PKA activation promotes the barrier function of TJs, while in other endothelia and in epithelial cells a generalization cannot be made, as PKA can produce contrary actions in different cell models.

In brain endothelial cells activation of PKG by cGMP exerts different effects depending on the state of the tissue. Thus protein kinase G (PKG) participates in the signaling cascades that leads to opening of the BBB triggered by hypoxia [113]. Hypoxia induced hyperpermeability is mediated by the interaction of VEGF with its tyrosine kinase receptors (e.g., VEGF-R2) [114]. This leads to receptor dimerization followed by autophosphorylation, which in turn triggers the activation PI3K/AKT and PLC γ . The latter induces generation of IP3 that produces an elevation in intracellular Ca²⁺ that activates nitric oxide synthase (NOS) to produce NO [115-117]. NO stimulates soluble guanylate cyclase (GC) leading to increase cGMP, which in turn activates PKG. Inhibitors of eNOS (e.g., NG-monomethyl-L-arginine), GC (ODQ) and PKG (KT 5823) abolish hypoxia and VEGF induced permeability changes [114,117,118] as well as the delocalization of ZO-1 and ZO-2 from the cell borders [113], thus demonstrating that both GC and PKG are involved in TJ opening in brain endothelial cells triggered by hypoxia. Hypothermia can decrease hypoxia induced hyper permeability by lowering the expression of VEGF and with it the levels of NO and cGMP [119].

In contrast, cGMP and PKG have also been reported to increase the barrier function of brain endothelial cells. Thus NO donors (e.g., SNP and DETA NONOate) or cGMP agonists (8-Br cGMP) increase TER, decrease paracellular permeability, and are able to reverse the increased permeability triggered by cytokines in HBMEC cultures [120], or by bradykinin infused into the carotid artery of rats implanted with gliomas [121]. Accordingly inhibiting cGMP (zaniprast) enhances the effect of drugs like Cereport, a bradykinin agonist, that increase permeability of the brain microvascular endothelium [122].

The importance of NO signaling in junctional sealing is further highlighted in the microgravity condition. Thus bovine aortic endothelial cells (BAEC) and liver WB-F344 epithelial cells, cultured in rotary wall vessels to stimulate a microgravity environment, form large cellular aggregates that display an increase in barrier properties and upregulation of TJ protein expression, through a process that involves increased basal production of NO [123,124].

In summary the discrepancy between the results that show increase TJ sealing by the NO signaling pathway and those obtained in hypoxia could be due to the fact that in the latter condition the effect of cGPM and PKG is given under a more complex background that involves the simultaneous activation of several other second messengers.

3.3. TJs and phosphatases PP1, PP2A and PP2B

Ser/Thr phosphorylation of several TJ proteins promotes the barrier function of TJs. Therefore it is expected that reducing the phosphorylation level of such proteins would negatively affect TJ integrity. Such appears to be the case since enhancing the activity of the Ser/Thr protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) induces dephosphorylation of ZO-1, occludin, and claudin-1, and an increased paracellular permeability, while inhibition of PP2A with okadaic acid promotes the phosphorylation of these TJ proteins and accelerates junctional assembly [125,126].

Protein phosphatases PP2A and PP1 interact with the carboxyl terminal tail of occludin (Table 1). PP2A dephosphorylates occludin on Thr, while PP1 dephosphorylates Ser residues. Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase in mammalian cells localizes at TJs and associates with PP2A. Inhibition of Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase ion transport function reduces PP2A activity and hyperphosphorylates occludin. However, in pancreatic cells, inhibition of PP2A with ouabain decreases TER and increases paracellular permeability [127]. Altogether these results suggest that altering the balance of occludin phosphorylation in Ser/Thr residues exerts a profound effect on the gate function of TJs.

In the relationship between phosphatases and TJ proteins, PKC is also involved. PP2A associates with aPKCζ, an isoform found at TJs. This interaction inhibits the activity of the kinase and promotes its relocalization to the cytosol. Moreover, the inhibition of aPKC ζ can block the appearance of TJ proteins at the cellular borders induced by okadaic acid [125]. PP2B in turn appears to decrease the phosphorylation state of $cPKC\alpha$, and treatment with PP2B inhibitor FK506 blocks the recovery of the thrombin-mediated decrease of TER in pulmonary endothelial cells [128]. This result is in agreement with previous observations demonstrating that cPKCa promotes TJ disassembly [44]. Thrombin-induced TJ barrier disfunction in endothelial cells is mediated by an increased phosphorylation of MLC that triggers contraction of the acto-myosin ring. This process appears to be determined by an increased activity of PP2B triggered by thrombin, as PP2B inhibitors (e.g., cyclosporin and deltamethrin) attenuate MLC dephosphorylation [129].

In summary we conclude that Ser/Thr phosphatases exert opposite effects on the barrier function of TJs by inhibiting different PKC isoform. Thus PP2A inhibits the aPKC ζ involved in TJ assembly and hence this phosphatase triggers TJ opening, whereas PP2B blocks the activity of cPKC α that disassembles TJs and in consequence PP2B promotes TJ sealing.

3.4. Rho signaling and TJ function

Rho is a member of the Ras superfamily of small GTP binding proteins that switch between active GTP bound and inactive GDP bound conformations. This process is regulated by GDP to GTP nucleotide exchange factors and by GTP hydrolysis stimulated by GTPase activation proteins. Rho family of GTPases includes RhoA, Rac and Cdc42 that regulate distinct actin structures in response to diverse signals. The role of Rho signaling in TJ function has been studied employing constitutively active mutants, that have a low basal rate of GTP hydrolysis, and are thereby locked in an active state, and dominant negative mutants that have a preferential affinity for GDP. Studies employing both dominant active and negative mutants of RhoA, Rac and Cdc42 reveal that they all disrupt the barrier function of TJs, yet the most intense effect is obtained with dominant active RhoA mutants [130,131].

C3 transferase from *Clostridium botulinum*, ADP ribosylates RhoA, but not Rac and Cdc42, and therefore has been employed to specifically inactivate RhoA. Downstream effectors of RhoA include the family of Ser/Thr kinases termed p160 ROCK/ ROKb/ROCKI and Rho kinase/ROKa/ROCKII. ROCKs can

induce acto-myosin contractility by a direct phosphorylation of the regulatory myosin light chain (MLC2) or the myosin phosphatase target subunit (MYPT) resulting in the inhibition of myosin phosphatase and hence hyperphosphorylation of MLC2 (Fig. 3). Several plaque proteins of the TJ interact directly with actin (e.g., ZO-1, ZO-2, ZO-3, AF-6 and cingulin) and myosin (e.g., cingulin). Such interactions stabilize the junctional complex at the cell border and also provide the force for the disruption of intercellular junctions upon contraction of the perijunctional acto-myosin ring. Therefore it is no surprise that the RhoA/ROCK signaling pathway participates both in the assembly and disassembly of TJs. Hence during ATP depletion activated RhoA better maintains junctions, while RhoA inhibition results in a more extensive loss of junctional components in MDCK cells [132]. Moreover, RhoA inactivation with C3 transferase disrupts TJ structure and function in Caco-2, T-84 and MDCK cells [133,134]. In the latter it inhibits both TJ and adherens junction assembly [135]. Direct inhibition of ROCK with Y27632 disorganizes the apical ring

of actin but does not alter TJ protein localization. However, if ROCK is inhibited during TJ assembly triggered by a Ca²⁺ switch, TJ proteins fail to redistribute at the intercellular junctions, demonstrating that ROCK is critical for the assembly of TJ proteins [134].

TJ opening by activation of the RhoA signaling pathway is triggered by several factors including pro-inflammatory cytokines in intestinal T-84 cells [136], microtubule destabilizing drugs in human pulmonary artery endothelial cells [137,138] and the migration of small lung cancer cells through brain endothelial cells [139]. The expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines like IFN γ is a hallmark characteristic in the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel diseases such as Crohn's and ulcerative colitis, while the microtubule destabilizing drug 2 methoxyestradiol (2ME), a derivative of the main natural estrogen 17 β estradiol, is currently being tested in the therapy for several cancers. Therefore understanding the mechanism of action of these molecules upon epithelial barriers has enormous clinical importance. Both IFN γ and 2ME activate RhoA,



Fig. 3. The crosstalk between PKC, Rho and MLCK signaling pathways regulates TJs. Microtubule depolymerization allows GEF-H1 to stimulate the exchange of GDP to GTP on Rho. Activated RhoA signals on its downstream target ROCK resulting in phosphorylation of TJ proteins, MLC2 and MYPT. In brain endothelial cells, BBB impairment is accompanied by Ser/Thr phosphorylation of occludin, claudin-5, ZO-1 and ZO-2, activation of cPKC α and aPKC ζ and Rho/ROCK signaling. Phosphorylation of MLC2 triggers contraction of acto-myosin rings and TJ disassembly in certain epithelia like MDCK, Caco-2 and T-84. Phosphorylation of MLCK by PKC inhibits the activity of the former, leading to a decrease phosphorylation of MLC2, relaxation of perijunctional acto-myosin and increased TER in some epithelia including Caco-2 cells. PKC phosphorylation of MARCKS releases calmodulin available for MLCK activation. Phosphorylation of MLC2 triggers in T-84 cells the formation of acto-myosin rings that favor de novo junction formation in sparse cultures and in assembly assays such as the Ca²⁺ switch.

triggering the subsequent upregulation of ROCK, the phosphorylation of MLC2 via a MLCK-independent pathway, TJ disassembly and increased paracellular permeability. In the case of IFN γ the formation of large actin coated vacuoles (VAC) that originate from the apical membrane and internalize TJ proteins occludin, JAM-A and claudin-1 has further been observed [136]. Employment of ROCK siRNAs has served to distinguish the participation of ROCK2 and not ROCK1 in junctional disruption triggered by microtubule destabilization with 2ME [137].

The link between microtubule destabilization and RhoA activation resides in the nucleotide exchange factor GEF-H1 [140]. This factor that activates RhoA but not Rac or Cdc42 associates with microtubules, and such association inhibits its activity. Upon microtubule depolymerization by nocodazol or thrombin treatment, GEF-H1 becomes active stimulating in consequence RhoA signaling [138,140]. During cytokinesis the depolymerization of spindle microtubules could speculatively trigger GEF-H1 activation and the subsequent RhoA/ROCK signaling, that would then be expected to promote the assembly of intercellular junctions between the two daughter cells. Instead in treatments that promote TJ opening by microtubule destabilization, GEF-H1 stimulation of RhoA is expected to induce the contraction of acto-myosin rings and the subsequent endocytosis of TJ components.

GEF-H1 interacts at the TJ with cingulin a plaque protein of the TJ [141,142]. This interaction inhibits RhoA activation. In sparse cultures where the expression of cingulin is low, GEF-H1 is cytoplasmic and RhoA is active. Instead, in high density cultures GEF-H1 is sequestered by cingulin at TJs and RhoA activation is inhibited.

In summary the abovementioned results suggest that RhoA activation is important for de novo formation of TJs occurring in sparse cultures and in monolayers subjected to a Ca^{2+} switch assay. The cellular level of activated RhoA is critical for TJ physiology, therefore overthrowing this balance with proinflammatory cytokines like IFN γ or with microtubule destabilizing drugs, as well as the inactivation of RhoA with C3 leads to TJ disassembly (Fig. 3).

3.5. Myosin light chain kinase and TJs

The motor protein myosin II is composed of two heavy chains of 200 kDa each and four light chains of 20 kDa, two each of so-called essential and regulatory light chains (MLC1 and MLC2, respectively) (Fig. 4). The heavy chains form a parallel two chain structure with a coiled-coil region termed rod or tail from which a pair of large globular NH_2 terminal heads project. The heads interact with ATP and actin to generate force and filament sliding.

The mechanism by which epithelial TJs are disassembled involves the phosphorylation at serine 19 of MLC2, that leads to the contraction of the acto-myosin belt. Reducing the extracellular calcium concentration to the micromolar range provokes the disassembly of tight and adherens junctions through a process that triggers the centripetal retraction of perijunctional actin and myosin filaments and the formation of contractile actomyosin rings where internalized AJ and TJ proteins are colocalized [143,144]. This process can be hampered by actin stabilization (jasplakinolide) or depolymerization (cytochalasin D or latrunculin A), blocking myosin in an actin detached state (blebbistatin) or by inhibiting MLCK (ML7). The importance of MLCK in TJ disassembly is further reinforced by observing that (1) the overexpression of MLCK catalytic domain increases the phosphorylation of MLC2, reorganizes perijunctional actin, alters the distribution of TJ proteins and increases the paracellular permeability in epithelial cells [145,146] and (2) the increased paracellular permeability of epithelial cells triggered by transfection with the intestinal Na⁺-glucose cotransporter SGLT1 [147], incubation with HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein gp120 [61], infection with EPEC or EHEC [148,65], treatment with TNF α and IFN γ [148] or bile acids [149] is mediated by MLC2 phosphorylation by MLCK, as this process is blocked by MLCK inhibitors ML7, ML9 and PIK. Interestingly the incubation with the yeast Saccharomyces boulardii that reverses the increased intestinal permeability triggered by EHEC abolishes EHEC induced MLC phosphorylation [150].

The assembly of the apical junctional complex is also dependent on the phosphorylation of MLC2 and requires the



Fig. 4. Model of myosin II molecule. Myosin II is composed of two heavy chains that form a parallel structure organized as a coiled-coil rod from which large globular heads project. Two light chains are found around each neck: an essential light chain (MLC1) and a regulatory light chain (MLC2).

participation of polymerized actin [151]. Thus during a Ca²⁺ switch assay TJ proteins appear at the cellular borders in colocalization with actin, actin microfilament nucleation proteins Arp2/3 and N-WASP (neuronal Wiskott–Aldrich syndrome protein), myosin II and diphosphorylated MLC2 at Thr18/ Ser19. The amount of the latter increases significantly during the Ca²⁺ switch assay. The arrival of TJ proteins to the cell borders triggered by Ca²⁺ is blocked by (1) actin depolymerization with cytochalasin D or latrunculin A; (2) the N-WASP inhibitor, wiskostatin and (3) the myosin blocker blebbistatin, which also inhibits the ability of epithelial cells to develop a columnar phenotype with a proper apico-basal polarity.

In summary these results suggest that TJ opening triggered by incubating cells in LC media, treatment with cytokines, viral proteins or bacterial infections involves the phosphorylation of MLC2 in Ser19, that leads to the contraction of the actomyosin ring, while the diphosphorylation of MLC2 at Thr18/Ser19 triggers de novo assembly of the junctional complex during a Ca^{2+} switch assay (Fig. 3). Both processes depend on an intact cytoskeleton of actin and myosin.

A crosstalk between PKC and MLCK appears to be involved in the regulation of TER (Fig. 3). Thus, in intestinal cells PKC activation is accompanied by a progressive decrease in MLC2 phosphorylation. Interestingly an acute increase in MLCK phosphorylation that occurs concurrently with PKC activation precedes the decrease in MLC2 phosphorylation and increased TER [152]. Hence a model has been proposed in which PKC activation triggers the phosphorylation of MLCK. MLCK activity is inhibited by intramolecular interactions between its catalytic domain and the calmodulin binding inhibitory domain. In the presence of Ca^{2+} and calmodulin, this intramolecular interaction is blocked, the inhibition is released and the enzyme is activated. However, if PKC and PKA target sites present in the calmodulin binding domain of MLCK are phosphorylated, MLCK activity is inhibited due to interference with calmodulindependent enzyme activation. Therefore MLCK inactivation due to phosphorylation by PKC leads to decreased MLC2 phosphorylation, relaxation of the perijunctional acto-myosin ring and increased TER. In contrast, infection of T-84 cells with EHEC and treatment of brain microvascular endothelia with gp120 from HIV-1 induce an opening of TJs through a process that involves the activation of both PKC and MLCK. These two signaling molecules could cause the same patho-physiological outcome acting at different sites within the cytosol, or alternatively PKC could be regulating MLCK activity by modulating the availability of calmodulin. In this respect it is important to note that PKC phosphorylation of MARCKs (myristoylated alanine-rich C kinase substrate) releases calmodulin bound to MARCKs that is then available for MLCK activation [153].

3.6. MAP signaling and TJs

Mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinases are Ser/Thr protein kinases that respond to extracellular stimuli such as growth factors and stress, and regulate various cellular activities including gene expression, mitosis, differentiation and apoptosis. This signaling pathway has a membranous and a cytoplasmic phase. The first occurs in close proximity to the growth factor receptors and involves the activation of small GTP binding proteins (i.e., Ras). This is followed by the sequential activation of several cytoplasmic kinases known as MAPK. MAP3K is the first kinase in the cascade to become activated, and as a result phosphorylates a MAP2K on Ser/Thr residues, and then this MAP2K activates a MAPK by phosphorylation on its serine and tyrosine residues. MAPK can phosphorylate a large number of proteins that are located both in the cytoplasm and the nucleus, including transcription factors that regulate the transcription of diverse genes.

Four distinct groups of MAPKs are present in mammals: the first which is activated by growth factors and regulates cell proliferation and differentiation is integrated by the extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERKs) also known as classical MAP kinases. ERK1 has been found in epithelial cells to interact with occludin (Table 1). Other two groups of MAPKs activated by stress stimuli are c-Jun N-terminal kinases (JNKs) and p38 isoforms, which are involved in cell differentiation and apoptosis. A fourth group named ERK5 has been found to be activated by both growth factors and stress stimuli and is known to participate in cell proliferation.

MAP signaling pathway is able to modulate TJ paracellular transport by up- or downregulating the expression of several TJ proteins (Tables 2 and 3) and hence altering the molecular composition within TJ complexes. For example, the activation of ERK1/2 by transfection with an activated Ras mutant increases sixfold the transepithelial permeability of mannitol and more than 40% the TER. This decreased paracellular permeability to NaCl and increased permeability to a nonelectrolyte is not due to loss of junctions as there is a ceiling to the size of solutes that can cross the barrier (10,000 Da methylated dextran can cross while 2,000,000 Da methylated dextran cannot), and instead occurs in response to a decline to unde-

Table 2

Studies where MAPK signaling cascade favors the barrier function of TJs

Stimulus	MAPK involved	Altered TJ protein	Cell type	References
TGFβ	ERK1/2	↑ Cl-1 and ZO-2	MDCK, T-84	[158,159]
EGF	ERK1/2	ND	Caco-2	[160]
HGF	ERK1/2	↓ C1-2	MDCK-II, 94D	[155]
IL-17	ERK1/2	↑ Cl-1 and Cl-2	T-84	[157]
Endostatin	ERK1/2	↑ Occludin	Retinal vessels	[163]
Protectants of oxidative stress (thiol)	ERK1/2, JNK, p38	ND	Lung endothelia	[270]
Glucocorticoids	ERK1/2	None	Con8	[162]
Steroids: estradiol and dihydrotestosterone	ERK1/2	↑ Occludin	HUVEC	[164,165]
Bile	ERK1/2	↑ Occludin and ZO-1	Ileal mucosa	[161]

Epithelial cell lines: MDCK, dog kidney; T-84, human colon; Caco-2, human colon; 94D, mouse cortical collecting duct; Con8, rat mammary tumor; endothelial cell lines: HUVEC, human umbilical cord. ↑ Increased or ↓ decreased expression of indicated TJ protein. Cl, claudin.

Table 3 MAPK signaling cascade perturbs the barrier function of TJs

Stimulus	Activated MAPK	Altered TJ protein	Cell type	References
Ras transfection	ERK1/2	Occludin, Cl-1 and ZO-1 disappear from cell borders	MDCK	[166,154]
		\downarrow Cl-2 and \uparrow occludin, claudins 1, 7 and 7	LLC-PK1	
Raf transfection	ERK1/2, p38	\downarrow Cl-2, altered distribution of	Hepatic	[167]
		ZO-1 at cell borders		
Bile (cholic and taurodeoxycholic acids)	ERK1/2, p38		Caco-2,	[149,169,170]
			pancreatic	
			duct epithelia	
Oxidative stress	ERK1/2	↓ Occludin, ZO-1 and ZO-2 disappear	Brain endothelia	[172,171,173]
$(H_2 0_2, DMNQ)$		from cell borders, and \uparrow P-Ser	and HUVEC	
		of occludin		
Alcohol	ERK1/2, JNK, p38	ZO-1 phosphorylation	Brain endothelia	[168]
CdCl ₂	p38	↓ Occludin	Sertoli	[176]
DF	ERK1/2	↓ Occludin, ZO-1 disappears	PC-1, PC-1.0,	[184,183]
		from cell borders	AsPC-1,	
TOPA	EDK1/2 20		CAPAN-2	[100.177]
TGFβ3	ERK1/2, p38	\downarrow Occludin, ZO-1 and CI-11	Sertoli	[180,176]
EGF+1GFØI	EKK1/2	↓ Occludin and CI-1	I nyroid	[182]
DI CE 1	EDV 1/2	70 1 discusses from call bandons	epithelia	[101]
PLGF-1	EKK1/2 EDK1/2	20-1 disappears from cell borders	AKPE-19	[181]
VEOF	EKK1/2	↓ 20-1	magathalia	[1/0]
TNE IENA	EPK1/2 n38	Occludin 70 1 Cl 2	MDCK	[177]
Mast cell tryptase	ERK1/2, p58	Occludin and ZO-1 disappear	Colonocytes	[177]
wast een tryptase	LIXX1/2	from cell borders	Colollocytes	[107]
HIV-Tat protein	FRK1/2	\downarrow ZO-1 and Cl-5	Brain endothelia	[185 186]
HIV protease inhibitor (ritonavir)	ERK1/2	ND	HMEC	[187]
Matrix metalloproteinases	ERK1/2	↑ ZO-1 degradation	Pancreatic cancer	[174 175]
(MMP-7, MMP-9)			brain endothelia	[17, 1, 17, 0]
Pseudomona aeruginosa	p38	↓ Occludin and ZO-1	Caco-2	[188]
sensing molecule 3O-C(12)-HSL	1	*		
EPEC	ERK1/2	ZO-1	T-84	[190]

Epithelial cell lines: MDCK, dog kidney; ARPE-19, human retinal pigment; PC-1 and PC-1.0, hamster pancreas; AsPC-1, CAPAN-2, human pancreas. Endothelial cell lines: HMEC, human dermal; HUVEC, human umbilical cord. ↑ Increased or ↓ decreased expression of indicated TJ protein. Cl, claudin.

tectable levels of claudin-2 and an increased expression of claudins-1, -4 and -7 [154]. Moreover, the activation of ERK1/2 by HGF inhibits claudin-2 expression in the leaky strain of MDCK cells (MDCK II) and increases TER, while the treatment of the tight strain of MDCK cells (MDCK I) with an ERK1/2 inhibitor induces expression of claudin-2 and decreases TER by 20-fold [155]. The expression of claudin-2 is particularly relevant since previous studies had demonstrated that the difference in junction leakiness between these two strains of MDCK cells is due to the expression in MDCK II cells of claudin-2, a protein known to form paracellular cationic channels [21,156].

In epithelia it has been observed that treatment with the cytokine IL-17 [157] or with several growth factors including transforming growth factor β (TGF β) [158,159], epithelial growth factor (EGF) [160] and HGF [155], or the exposure of intestinal cells to bile [161] activates ERK1/2 increasing the barrier function of TJs. Thiols can also promote TJ sealing by activating ERK1/2, JNK and p38. Treatment with glucocorticoids increases TER by recruiting Ras to regions of cell–cell contact and inducing ERK1/2 activation [162]. In endothelial cells endostatin, a 20-kDa fragment of collagen XVIII reverses VEGF-mediated increase in permeability of the blood retinal barrier (BRB), through activation of p38 MAPK and ERK1/

ERK2 [163]. Interestingly pretreatment of HUVEC cells with the steroid hormone dihydrotestosterone (DHT), and to a lesser extent with estradiol (E_2), mitigates the permeability defects associated with brief periods of hypergravity [164,165]. In cells subjected to conditions similar to those experienced by astronauts during liftoff, occludin expression is suppressed and permeability increases. Steroid treatment activates ERK1/2 and blocks these effects. However, since pretreatment with DHT induces a longer period of decreased paracellular permeability after hypergravity than E_2 , it could explain the higher post-flight orthostatic intolerance (POI) found in female than in male astronauts. POI is the failure of the body to properly adjust to an upright position especially with respect to blood flow, heart rate and blood pressure, and symptoms of POI can develop as a result from fluid leakage through the endothelial cell TJ barrier.

Activation of MAPKs is also involved in TJ opening triggered by Ras [166,154] or Raf transfection [167], treatment with alcohol [168], bile [149,169,170] oxidative stress, [171–173], metalloproteinases [174,175], CdCl₂ [176], cytokines TNF \propto and IFN γ [177], growth factors VEGF [178], TGF β 3 [179,180], PLGF-1 [181], and the combined addition of EGF and TGF β 1 [182], the dissociation factor DF [183,184], HIV-1 Tat protein [185,186] and the HIV protease inhibitor ritonavir [187], *Pseudomona aeruginosa* sensing molecule 30-C(12)-

HSL [188], agonist of protease-activated receptor 2 (PAR-2) [189], as well as EHEC [150] and EPEC bacteria [190] (Fig. 5). The deleterious effect of these bacteria on TJ barrier function is inhibited by treatment with the yeast *S. boulardii* that diminishes the bacteria induced activation of the MAP kinase pathway. The deleterious effect of EHEC has also been prevented by pretreating the cells with TGFβ [159].

The action of some of the abovementioned substances is however subject to variation depending on the tissue studied. For example, (1) Ras overexpression triggers in MDCK cells the disappearance of claudin-1, occludin and ZO-2 from cell–cell contact sites due to ERK1/2 activation, while in breast cancer cells no changes in the expression of these proteins are detected [191]; and (2) the addition of bile to rat IEC-6 enterocytic monolayers increases the expression of TJ proteins and diminishes paracellular permeability through ERK1/2-dependent signaling [161], while treating human colorectal adenocarcinoma Caco-2 cells and primary cultures of bovine pancreatic ductal cells with bile acids damages the epithelia and diminishes TER [149,169,170]. This deleterious effect is mediated by generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and the subsequent activation of ERK1/2, p38, PI3K and MLCK [149] and can be significantly decreased with EGF [170]. Thus it seems that while the presence of bile in the intestinal lumen favors the normal gut barrier function, its presence in non-physiological sites like the colon or the pancreatic duct is deleterious to the organism. In this respect it should be mentioned that the presence of bile in the pancreatic duct results in an increase in duct permeability for molecules up to the size range of pancreatic enzymes and thereby may contribute to the initiation of gallstone pancreatitis [169,192,193].

A crosstalk between PKC and the MAPK signaling pathway also regulates TJ opening. Thus in corneal epithelial cell lines activation of PKC with PMA triggers a decrease in TER through the activation of MAPK [194].

JAM-1, a type I protein of the TJ characterized for exhibiting two extracellular Ig-like domains, appears to constitute a primary signaling component of the ERK pathway [195]. Thus, JAM-1 silencing hinders the migration of endothelial HUVEC cells on vitronectin induced by basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), due to the inability of the growth factor to activate ERK. ERK activation by bFGF is fundamental for triggering



Fig. 5. Activation of the MAPK pathway can lead to TJ opening or assembly depending on the agent that activates the cascade. The uppermost portion of the figure indicates the activators of the MAPK pathway that lead to TJ disassembly (red) or that favor TJ tightening (blue). The hierarchically organization of MAP signaling cascades into three-tiered modules of MAPKKK, MAPKK and MAPK is shown.

endothelial cell migration required for sealing injured vasculature. Interestingly, bFGF signaling involves interaction with integrin $\alpha\nu\beta_3$, which is known to associate with JAM-1 [196].

Occludin also appears to participate in the activation of the MAPK signaling pathway [197]. Thus in hepatic cell lines derived from occludin-deficient mice, MAPK activation is downregulated triggering apoptosis and increased claudin-2 expression. When occludin is transfected into these cultures MAPK becomes activated, reversing the increase in claudin-2 expression and apoptosis.

Therefore we can conclude that the MAPK signaling pathway relates to TJs in two ways: (1) by altering the expression of several TJ proteins and (2) by the interaction of TJ integral proteins with other membrane proteins required for the activation of the ERK signaling pathway.

3.7. PI3K/Akt pathway and TJs

Phosphoinositide 3-kinases (PI3K) are enzymes capable of phosphorylating the 3 position hydroxyl group of the inositol ring of phosphatidylinositol [198]. Class I PI3Ks are composed of a catalytic and regulatory subunits respectively known as p110 and p85. These kinases convert PI(4,5)P2 to PI (3,4,5)P3 on the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane. The presence of PI(3,4,5)P3 translocates Akt, a Ser/Thr kinase, from the cytosol to the cell membrane. There Akt becomes activated after being phosphorylated at Ser473 and Thr308 by the kinases PDK2 and PDK1. Downstream targets of Akt include the glycogen synthase kinase (GSK- 3β), which is responsible for degrading B-catenin, through the ubiquitin proteosome pathway, and snail, a transcription factor that inhibits the transcription of E-cadherin, occludin and claudins. The lipid phosphatase PTEN antagonizes PI3K signaling as it dephosphorylates PI(3,4,5)P3 (Fig. 6). PTEN is a known tumor suppressor, while Akt is involved in cell survival and proliferation.

PI3K associates to ZO-1 and the carboxyl terminal domain of occludin in epithelial cells (Table 1) and its activation affects TJ sealing. For example, PI3K/Akt signaling is involved in the reduced expression of TJ proteins triggered by treatment with HIV-1 Tat protein [186] and TGFB1 [199,200]. The latter induces an epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) in which the presence of TGFB1 triggers (1) the Ras/Raf/Mek/Erk pathway that leads to c-Jun activation, AP-1 induced snail transcription, and the subsequent repression of claudins, occludin and E-cadherin expression; (2) the activation of the PI3K/Akt pathway that inhibits GSK-3ß blocking β-catenin and snail degradation, generating in consequence the transcription of genes regulated by the LEF-1/β-catenin complex involved in EMT, and repressing the expression of E-cadherin and TJ genes; and (3) binding of TGF β to its receptor T β RII and its heterodimerization with receptor TBRI, followed by the endocytosis of this complex. In the early endosome $T\beta RI$ binds to Smad anchor for receptor activation protein (SARA) which recruits Smad2/Smad3. Upon phosphorylation by TBRI the latter are released from the receptor complex and associate to Smad4. This Smad2/3-Smad4 complex then enters the nucleus

and promotes the transcription of LEF-1. PI3K is a mediator of Smad signaling since the proper association of Smad2/3 with T β RI requires binding of SARA to PIP3 which is formed by PI3K (Fig. 6).

Occludin expression appears to trigger the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway as activation of this route is downregulated in hepatic cell lines derived from occludin-deficient mice [197].

PI3K signaling is also involved in TJ sealing. Thus in ischemia-injured porcine ileum the PI3K cascade is required for prostaglandin induced recovery of TER and the reappearance of occludin and ZO-1 at intercellular junctions [201], and tightening of TJ barrier induced by glucocorticoids induces the recruitment of PI3K subunit p85 to TJs and is attenuated by PI3K inhibitors [162].

In summary no generalizations can be made on the effect of PI3K signaling pathway on TJ physiology, as activation of this route by different agents can induce opposite effects on the barrier function of TJs.

4. Phosphorylation of specific TJ proteins

4.1. ZO proteins

ZOs are phosphoproteins [43,202]. The analysis of phosphoamino acids from purified ZO-1 [202] or ZO-2 [39] reveals a strong phosphoserine signal. In cells lacking TJs due to the absence of Ca²⁺ in the media, ZO-2 is significantly more phosphorylated in serine residues than in monolayers with well-established TJs. This increased phosphorylation is due to the action of both protein PKC and PKA [39]. Instead a hyperphosphorylation of ZO-2 has been reported to correlate with an increased TER triggered by the PLC γ inhibitor 3-nitrocoumarin [203]. Since this process is reversed by the PKC inhibitor staurosporine, it is assumed to involve Ser/Thr residues. In a similar fashion, the phosphorylation of ZO-1 diminishes when the assembly of TJs triggered by a transfer from LC to NC media is blocked with PKC inhibitors [40].

To our knowledge, the only phosphorylated residue in ZO proteins whose physiological effect has been studied is Ser369 of ZO-2. This residue is located within NES-1 and complies with the consensus for phosphorylation by PKC. ZO-2 contains 4 NES which are Leu-rich sequences containing a characteristic spacing of Leu or other hydrophobic residues. When a peptide corresponding to the sequence of NES-1 was chemically conjugated to the reporter protein ovalbumine and injected into the nucleus, it remained confined to the nucleus, indicating the lack of functionality of the signal [204,205]. However, if Ser369 was substituted by a glutamic acid, the reporter protein left the nucleus through a process sensitive to leptomycin B, an antifungal compound that inhibits the association of NES with the export receptor CRM1/exportin. Furthermore, the substitution of Ser369 for alanine in ZO-2 inhibits the nuclear exportation of the protein [205]. Since the mutation of any of the NES present in ZO-2 is sufficient to block the nuclear exportation of the protein, it is concluded that phosphorylation of Ser369 is critical for the departure of ZO-2 from the nucleus.



Fig. 6. Schematic representation of the activation of PI3K/Akt kinase pathway and its effect on TJs. The uppermost portion of the figure indicates the activators of the PI3K/Akt pathway that lead to TJ disassembly (bold) or that favor TJ tightening. PI3K generates phospholipids that activate PDK1 and PDK2. These kinases phosphorylate Akt rendering it active. Akt phosphorylation deactivates its target GSK-3 β , which as a consequence cannot lead β -catenin and snail to degradation in the proteosome. While snail transcription factor silences the expression of several junctional proteins, β -catenin associates to LEF-1, enters the nucleus and promotes the transcription of genes involved in EMT. The endocytosis of the TGF β receptor complex requires PI3K as a mediator of Smad signaling that leads to LEF-1 transcription. The signaling cascade downstream of AKT that promotes TJ tightening is not yet known.

ZO proteins can also become tyrosine phosphorylated. Interestingly this phosphorylation occurs both under conditions that favor TJ formation like protamine sulfate treatment of glomeruli [206], EGF treatment in A-431 cells [207], or ATP replenishment in MDCK cells [208], and in others that favor the loosening of the TJ barrier like oxidative stress [209–211], the transfection of v-Src [212], treatment with HGF [213,214] or tyrosine phosphatase inhibitors [215] as well as in colorectal cancer [216].

4.2. Claudins

Claudins are phosphorylation targets of diverse kinases. Next we will describe several cases in which the phosphorylation of claudins alters the barrier function of the TJ, perturbs the morphological asymmetry in embryos or impacts human health.

4.2.1. Phosphorylation of Thr206 in claudin-1 randomizes the direction of heart looping

In vertebrates, the positioning of the internal organs relative to the midline is asymmetric. When a subtractive screen was done to identify genes that are differentially expressed on the left and right side of the chick embryo, claudin-1 was identified as being expressed on the left side. Interestingly, claudin-1 overexpression on the right side of the chick embryos randomized the direction of heart looping. This effect appears to be regulated by claudin-1 phosphorylation, as it is abolished upon mutation of Thr206, a residue that constitutes a putative PKC phosphorylation target [217]. Interestingly this site is conserved as a putative Thr/Ser PKC phosphorylation site in all the species where claudin-1 has been sequenced (Fig. 7A). Furthermore, upon comparing the tail of several claudins we observe that this residue is conserved as a PKC phosphorylation site in claudins-2, -7, -8, -16 and -17 (Fig. 7F). 4.2.2. Thr phosphorylation of claudin-5 by PKA increases the barrier function of brain endothelia and loosens lung endothelial TJs

Claudin-5 although present in certain epithelia [218], is specially concentrated in endothelial cells [27], and in the blood-brain barrier (BBB) plays a crucial role establishing the size discrimination of the TJ [28]. In brain endothelia cAMP increases gene expression of claudin-5, enhances the presence of the protein along cell borders and promotes in it a switch from

Ser to Thr phosphorylation via PKA. These effects are accompanied by an elevated barrier function of TJs [106]. Instead, when rat lung endothelial cells are induced to express a claudin-5 with a point mutation in a putative PKA phosphorylation site (Thr207Ala), they become impermeable to inulin (5 kDa) and mannitol (182 Da) while the expression of wild-type claudin-5 allows the passage of the smaller tracer, highlighting how the phosphorylation of Thr207 loosens the size-selective passage of molecules through the TJ of lung endothelial cells.

```
A) Claudin 1 (Thr 203, Thr
                                   206)
Cl-1 Rattus norvegicus 182 LSCSCPRKTTSYPTPRPYPKP PSTGKDYV 211
Cl-1 Mus musculus
                        182 LSCSCPRKTTSYPTPRPYPKPTPSSGKDYV 211
Cl-1 Bos taurus
                       182 LCCSCPRKTTSYPTPRPYPKPAPSSGKDYV 211
                       182 LCCSCPRKTTSYPTPRPYPKPAPSSGKDYV 211
Cl-1 Homo sapiens
Cl-1 Gallus gallus
                        182 LCCSCPRSETSYPPSRGYPKNAPSTGKDYV 211
                            *.*****. ****..* *** :**:*****
B) Claudin 5 (Thr 207)
Cl-5 Mus musculus
                        189 TGRPEFS-FPVKYSAPRRPTANGDYDKKNYV 218
Cl-5 Rattus norvegicus 189 TGRPEFS-FPVKYSAPRRTTANGDYDKKNYV 218
Cl-5 Homo sapiens

189 TGRPDLS-FPVKYSAFKRFTATGETOKKYV 216

187 LQRDETS-FPVKYSAPRRPTSSGEYDKKNYV 216
Cl-5 Xenopus tropicalis 187 -MKDGISNLPVKYSAPRMPTSNGDYDKKNYV 216
Cl-5 Danio rerio 186 -PASGSSGYSVKYAPTKRATSNGEYDKRNYV 215
                                  * *** * * * ***
C) Claudin 16 (Ser 217)
Cl-16 Rattus norvegicus
                       _____
Cl-16 Mus musculus
Cl-16 Homo sapiens
                    211 DVYVERSTLVLHNIFLGIOYKEGWSCWLGMAGSLGCELAGAVLTCCLYLE 260
Cl-16 Bos taurus
Cl-16 Rattus norvegicus 211 ------GVSMAKSYKAPRTETAKMYAVDTRV 235
                    211 -----GVSMAKSYKAPRTETAKMYAVDTRV 235
Cl-16 Mus musculus
Cl-16 Homo sapiens
                    261 KDVGPERNYPYSLRKAYSAAGVSMAKSYSAPRTETAKMYAVDTRV 305
Cl-16 Bos taurus
                    211 - DVGPERSYPYSTRKAYSTTAVSMPRSHAIPRTQTAKMYAVDTRV 254
                                       .***.:*: ***:*********
D) Claudin 3 (Thr 192)
Cl-3 Rattus norvegicus 190 -----YAPTKILYSAPRSTGPGTGTGTAYDRKDYV 219
Cl-3 Mus musculus
                        190 -----YAPTKILYSAPRSTGPGTGTGTGTAYDRKDYV 219
                         190 -----YARTKIVYSAPRSTGPVTSTGTAYDRKDYV 219
Cl-3 Bos taurus
Cl-3 Canis familiaris 189 ----KKYAPTKIVYSAPRSAGPGTST--AYDRKDYV 218
Cl-3 Homo sapiens 191 -----Y
Cl-3 Xenopus tropicalis 184 CPPKEKYPTSRVAYSAARSTNPG-----YDRKDYV 213
                        185 PPKDERYAPSKVAYSAPRSAVTS-----YDKRNYV 214
Cl-3 Gallus gallus
                                  *. ::: ***.**: .
                                                        **:::**
E) Claudin 4 (Tyr 208)
Cl-4 Homo sapiens
                         180 LLCCNCPPR-TDKPYSAKYSAARSAAASN<mark>Y</mark>V 209
                         180 LLCFNCPPR-NDKPYSAKYSAARSAPASNYV 209
Cl-4 Bos taurus
Cl-4 Rattus norvegicus 181 -LCCNCPPRRNEKPYSAKYSAARSVPASNYV 210
Cl-4 Xenopus tropicalis 180 MLCCNCPPR-DQKPYSAKYTAARSGATSNYV 209
```

Fig. 7. Comparison of phosphorylated residues present in claudins sequenced in diverse species. (A) Comparison of Thr203 (rat, red) and Thr206 (chicken, yellow) of claudin-1 with residues present in this segment in other species. (B) Comparison of Thr207 (blue) present in rat claudin-5 with residues present in this segment in other species. (C) Comparison of Ser217 (blue) present in human claudin-16 with residues present in this segment in other species. (D) Comparison of Tyr208 (green) present in human claudin-4 with residues present in this segment in other species. (E) Comparison of Thr192 (blue) present in human claudin-3 with residues present in this segment in other species. (F) Comparison of the phosphorylated residues present in the tail of different claudins from *Homo sapiens*. The highlighted residues correspond to amino acids that constitute putative phosphorylation target sites of the same kinase phosphorylating the boxed residue. The highlighted residue corresponds to the originally described phosphorylated amino acid. Kinase target sites: yellow, PKC; blue, PKA; red, MAPK; and green, EpHA2.

F) Homo sapiens claudins tails

Cl-7 Homo sapiens	182LSC 184	Į
Cl-1 Homo sapiens	182LCC 184	Į
Cl-4 Homo sapiens	180LLCC 184	Į
Cl-16 Homo sapiens	211 DVYVER <mark>S</mark> TLVLHNIFLGIQYKFGWSCWLGMAGSLGCFLAGAVLTCCLYLF 260)
Cl-14 Homo sapiens*	210AY 211	
Cl-14 Homo sapiens	210AY 211	
Cl-3 Homo sapiens		
Cl-5 Homo sapiens		
Cl-9 Homo sapiens		
Cl-8 Homo sapiens		
Cl-6 Homo sapiens		
Cl-19 Homo sapiens		
Cl-2 Homo sapiens		
Cl-20 Homo sapiens		
Cl-17 Homo sapiens		
Cl-12 Homo sapiens		
Cl-11 Homo sapiens		
Cl-23 Homo sapiens		
Cl-7 Homo sapiens	185SCP-GNESKAGYRAPRSYPKSN <mark>S</mark> SKE <mark>Y</mark> V 211	-
Cl-1 Homo sapiens	185SCP-RKTTSYPTPRPYPKPAPS <mark>S</mark> GKD <mark>Y</mark> V 211	L
Cl-4 Homo sapiens	185NCP-PRTDK-PYSAKYSAARSAAASN <mark>Y</mark> V 209	Э
Cl-16 Homo sapiens	261 KDVGPERNYP-YSLRK-AYSAAGVSMAKSYSAPRTE <mark>T</mark> AKM <mark>Y</mark> AVDTRV 305	5
Cl-14 Homo sapiens*	212QP-PAAYK-DNRAPSVTSATHSGYRLND <mark>Y</mark> V 239)
Cl-14 Homo sapiens	212QP-PAAYK-DNRAPSVTSATHSGYRLND <mark>Y</mark> V 239)
Cl-3 Homo sapiens	191Y <mark>T</mark> ATKVVYSAPRST-GPGASLGTGYDRKD <mark>Y</mark> V 220)
Cl-5 Homo sapiens	189TGRP-DLSFPVKYSAPRRP <mark>T</mark> AT-G-DYDKKN <mark>Y</mark> V 218	3
Cl-9 Homo sapiens	188PQVER-PRGPRLGYSIPSRSGASGLDKRD <mark>Y</mark> V 217	1
Cl-8 Homo sapiens	196RYSIPSHRTTQKSYHTGKKSPSVY <mark>S</mark> RSQ <mark>Y</mark> V 225	>
Cl-6 Homo sapiens	191QGPSHYMARYSTSAPAISRGPSEYPTKN <mark>Y</mark> V 220)
Cl-19 Homo sapiens	195SPQPYRPGPSAAAREPVVKLPASAKGPLGV 224	ł
Cl-2 Homo sapiens	201QPLATRSSPRPGQPPKVKSEFNSY <mark>S</mark> LTG <mark>Y</mark> V 230)
Cl-20 Homo sapiens	190P-EARLDPPTQQPISNTQLENNSTHNLKD <mark>Y</mark> V 219	,
Cl-17 Homo sapiens	195YRYP-VPGYRVPHTDKRRNTTMLSK <mark>T</mark> STS <mark>Y</mark> V 224	ł
Cl-12 Homo sapiens	215PSMHTYSQPYSARSRLSAIEIDIPVVSHTT 244	ł
Cl-11 Homo sapiens	178CAGDAQAFGENRFYYTAGSSSPTHAKSAHV 207	1
Cl-23 Homo sapiens	263VLDGEGWESQDAPSCSTHPCDSSLPCDSDL 292	2

Phosphorylation targets of different kinases: MAPK, ; PKA, ; PKC, and EpHA2, Residues conservation: * - single, fully conserved residue : - conservation of strong groups . - conservation of weak groups - no consensus

Fig. 7 (continued).

Although the Thr207 PKA target site present in claudin-5 is conserved in different animal species, it is absent in other human claudins (Fig. 7B and F).

4.2.3. Absence of phosphorylation of claudin-16 at Ser217 by *PKA* targets the protein to the lysosome

Claudin-16 known as paracellin, concentrates at the TJ of the thick ascending limb of Henle (TAL) and functions as a paracellular pore for Mg^{2+} [22]. This action is crucial for Mg^{2+} homeostasis because Mg^{2+} filtrated in the glomeruli is predominantly reabsorbed by the paracellular pathway in the TAL [219]. Claudin-16 is phosphorylated by PKA at Ser217 under physiological conditions and this phosphorylated claudin-16 and the Ser217Ala mutant are translocated into the lysosome [99]. Ser217 is not conserved in claudin-16 derived from other

species or in the carboxyl terminal tail of other human claudins (Fig. 7C and F).

A human renal disease known as familial hypomagnesemia with hypercalciuria and nephrocalcinosis (FHHNC) is caused by a disfunction of claudin-16 and is characterized by renal wasting of Mg^{2+} and Ca^{2+} [22]. Patients with FHHNC exhibit diverse mutations in claudin-16 that affect the intracellular traffic of this protein. When proteins carrying these human mutations were studied in MDCK cells, they were found to be retained in the endoplasmic reticulum and to undergo proteosomal degradation or to be delivered to lysosomes via clathrin-mediated endocytosis following transport to the cell surface or without appearing in the plasma membrane [220]. These mutations are located in the extracellular loops and the transmembrane domains of claudin-16, therefore they cannot be regulated by phosphorylation. Other cases of lysosomal mistargeting are generated by missense mutations which delete the entire C terminal cytosolic domain where the critical Ser217 residue target of PKA is located [221]. However, the absence of this residue is not the only trigger for lysosomal mistargeting as mutations that disrupt the PDZ binding motif of claudin-16 are also targeted to the lysosome due to their inability to associate to the TJ scaffolding protein ZO-1 [222,220].

4.2.4. PKA phosphorylation of Thr192 in claudin-3 perturbs the barrier function of TJs

In cancerous tissue, the loss of the epithelial barrier function has been recognized for a long time as an essential step involved in cell transformation [223-227]. Therefore it has been intriguing to find claudin upregulation in several carcinomas (for a review, see [7]), since these proteins are clearly implicated in TJ formation and function. The answer to this conundrum is apparently related to the phosphorylation state of claudins and their cis-associated proteins (on the membrane of the same cell). Claudin-3 for example contains a putative PKA phosphorylation site at Thr192 and is an excellent substrate of this kinase. When the ovarian cancer cell line OVCA433 is transfected with a claudin-3 that contains a Thr192Asp mutation that mimics the phosphorylated state, TER does not develop in newly plated monolayers and paracellular permeability increases in mature cultures [97]. These results hence suggest that claudin-3 phosphorylation by PKA may provide a mechanism for the disruption of TJs in ovarian cancer even when claudin expression is upregulated. Thr192 is not conserved in claudin-3 derived from other animal species, or in the carboxyl tail of any of the other human claudins (Fig. 7D and F).

4.2.5. Phosphorylation by MAPK of Thr203 in claudin-1 is crucial for the barrier function of TJs

The putative MAPK kinase phosphorylation site located at Thr203 in claudin-1 is required to promote the barrier function of TJs as a Thr203Ala mutation decreases TER and increases paracellular permeability in rat lung endothelial cells (RLE) [228]. This Thr is conserved in claudin-1 from rat and mouse but not in bovine, chicken and humans and is not found in other human claudins (Fig. 7A and F).

4.2.6. Phosphorylation of claudins-1 and -4 by WNK enzymes generates a chloride shunt in the distal nephron proposed to contribute to the pathogenesis of pseudohypoaldosteronism type II (PHAII)

PHAII is an autosomal dominant disorder characterized by hypertension and high serum potassium levels (hyperkalemia). Reduced renal H^+ secretion is also commonly seen, resulting in metabolic acidosis. The hypertension has been attributed to an increased renal salt absorption and the hyperkalemia to a reduced renal K^+ excretion, despite normal glomerular filtration and aldosterone secretion. Mutations in two homologous Ser/ Thr kinase genes named *WNK1* and *WNK4* [With No K(lysine) kinase] are responsible for this disease [229]. Mutations in these genes consist of large deletions in the first intron of WNK1 and missense mutations that cluster within a short span of WNK4. These kinases are expressed in the nephron at the distal convoluted tubule and the collecting duct, segments involved in salt, K⁺, and pH homeostasis. WNK1 is cytoplasmic, whereas WNK4 localizes at TJs (Table 1). WNK4 downregulates the activity of the apical thiazide-sensitive Na⁺-Cl⁻ cotransporter and the apical secretory K⁺ channel ROMK, the basolateral Na⁺- K^+-2Cl^- cotransporter and the Cl^-/HCO_3^- exchanger (for a review, see [230]). When the disease-causing mutants are stably expressed in MDCK cells, they display a gain of function that causes increased paracellular chloride permeability and an enhanced phosphorylation of claudins. WNK4 has been found to increase the phosphorylation of claudins-1 to -4 whereas with WNK1 mutants only the increased phosphorylation of claudin-4 in Thr residues has been explored [231,232]. The presence of such a chloride shunt in the distal nephron is proposed to contribute to the pathogenesis of PHAII. The enhanced phosphorylation of claudins by mutant WNK4 is not due to an increased kinase activity of the mutant, but to an augmented claudin-WNK4 association. The YV PDZ-binding motif found at the carboxyl terminal end most claudins (all except claudins-11, -12, -13 and -16) is necessary for this interaction.

The observation that an increased phosphorylation of claudins exerted by WNK 1 and 4 augments the paracellular permeability of Cl⁻, highlights the importance of claudins as therapeutic targets for controlling paracellular charge selectivity. For instance it has been observed that aldosterone which increases the abundance of WNK4 in mammalian kidney, induces in MDCK cells the apical to basal passage of Cl⁻ and promotes a transient phosphorylation of claudin-4 in Thr residues [233].

4.2.7. Phosphorylation of claudin-4 at Tyr208 by EphA2 enhances paracellular permeability

Another interesting case is posed by the interaction of claudins with the Eph family of receptor protein tyrosine kinases and its ligands. Ephrin receptors and ligands are widely expressed in epithelial cells and their overexpression has been reported in various tumors. Eph receptors are classified in two groups according to their preferential binding to ligands tethered to the cell surface by a GPI anchor (ephrin A) or a transmembrane domain (ephrin B). The interaction of claudin-4, one of the most frequently overexpressed proteins in diverse carcinomas, with EphA2 via their extracellular domains, stimulates the kinase activity of EphA2 and leads to the phosphorylation of claudin-4 at Tyr208. The phosphorylation of this residue contained within the PDZ binding motif of the molecule attenuates the association of claudin-4 with ZO-1, decreasing as a result the integration of this claudin into sites of cell-cell contact and enhancing paracellular permeability [234]. Tyr208 is conserved in claudin-4 from other animal species and in human claudins-1 to -9, -14, -16, -17 and -20 (Fig. 7E and F).

The ligand of Eph receptors B named ephrin B1 is also involved in epithelial adhesion as it interacts in MDCK cells with claudins-1 or -4 on the same surface in cis, via the extracellular domains of these proteins [235]. This interaction that triggers the phosphorylation of ephrin B1 on Tyr residues is markedly enhanced by the trans interaction of claudins upon cell–cell contact formation. Interestingly ephrin B1 phosphorylation that can be abolished by Src kinase inhibitors increases the degree of paracellular permeability. Therefore these results suggest that the overexpression of claudins in certain cancers would trigger the phosphorylation of ephrin B1, a condition that would in turn generate a leakier TJ.

4.3. Occludin

4.3.1. Expression of different occludin bands depends on the state of cell-cell contact

Occludin resolves by SDS-PAGE, as several bands between 62 and 82 kDa. The lower bands of 62–65 kDa are detergent soluble and phosphorylated in both Ser and Thr residues while the higher ones are insoluble and correspond to forms of phosphorylated occludin [236,237]. The non- or weak phosphorylated forms of occludin distribute along the basolateral membrane while the highly phosphorylated occludin selectively concentrates at the TJ [236].

In the absence of cell-cell contacts MDCK cells only express the lower molecular weight bands. Instead upon TJ formation triggered by switching the cells from low to normal Ca^{2+} media. higher molecular weight bands are expressed [238]. Somewhat similar changes have been observed during the development of mouse embryos, where occludin first assembles at the apicolateral membrane contact site during the 32-cell stage, just prior to blastocoele cavitation [239]. At this time occludin switches form a detergent soluble to an insoluble form indicative of cytoskeletal anchorage. In mouse unfertilized eggs and embryos at different stages of development three major bands of occludin are detected. The lower and higher MW bands of 58 and 72-75 kDa decline in intensity during development, whereas the 65to 67-kDa band increases in intensity from a minor band in eggs to become the predominant band in blastocysts. Phosphatase treatment has revealed that in blastocysts, the 72-75 and 58 kDa bands are unphosphorylated, while the 65- to 67-kDa band is strongly phosphorylated. In amphibian cells a different situation is encountered, as occludin dephosphorylation correlates with TJ assembly [240]. Thus in Xenopus laevis oocytes, occludin is in a phosphorylated form, while fertilization and early embryo development are associated with an electrophoretic downshift of occludin that can be mimicked with phosphatase treatment.

4.3.2. Occludin phosphorylation diminishes during TJ disassembly

In mammalian cells, the overall phosphorylation of occludin is reduced during TJ disassembly, triggered by incubation of the cells in low Ca²⁺ media or by treatment with phorbol esters [237], or by infection with EPEC [241] or *Campylobacter jejuni*, a leading cause of enterocolitis often associated with postinfectious complications including irritable bowel syndrome and Guillain–Barré syndrome [242], and *Burkholderia cenocepacia*, an opportunistic bacteria that in patients with cystic fibrosis traverses the airway epithelium causing bacteremia and sepsis [243].

In cervical epithelium treatment with ATP or diC8, an agonist of conventional and novel PKCs, decreases TJ resistance and generates a breakdown of the 65-kDa occludin to the 50-kDa form. ATP also decreases Thr phosphorylation of the 65-kDa form and increases Thr phosphorylation of the 50-kDa form and Tyr phosphorylation of the 65- and 50-kDa forms [244]. PMA, an activator or conventional and novel PKCs, is remarkable as independently of the cell line used and on its effect on TJs, it promotes Thr dephosphorylation of occludin, suggesting that it targets a Ser/Thr phosphatase which then acts upon occludin [245,76,70].

In Caco-2 cells the phosphorylation of occludin in Thr residues, but not on Ser residues, is reduced during the disassembly of TJs and is gradually increased during reassembly [126], and in LLC-PK1 cells exposure to phorbol esters induces disruption of the TJ associated to a rapid decrease in Thr phosphorylation of occludin [245]. These results contrast with others done in MDCK cells, that show a 71-kDa band of occludin exclusively phosphorylated on Ser residues, that is not present when the TJ is opened by Ca²⁺ removal [237]. The discrepancy could be due to cell-type-dependent differences or to the fact that while in the MDCK studies TJ were disrupted by long-term exposure to low Ca²⁺; in the Caco-2 cell system a short exposure to the Ca²⁺ chelator EGTA was performed.

4.3.3. VEGF induces the breakdown of the blood-retinal barrier (BRB) and triggers occludin phosphorylation

In retinal endothelial cells (REC), exposure to high glucose results in increased expression of VEGF, as well as the phosphorylation of VEGF receptor-2 (VEGFR-2) [246]. VEGF induces the breakdown of the blood-retinal barrier (BRB) and triggers rapid phosphorylation of occludin and ZO-1 [247]. Accordingly REC of diabetic animals show an elevated occludin phosphorylation [248]. Corticosteroids increase resistance and intraocular pressure [249] and in REC decrease both paracellular flux and occludin phosphorylation [250].

The signaling pathways that underlie VEGF signaling are beginning to be unraveled. Thus, in aortic endothelial cells, VEGF enhances permeability by sequentially involving Src, ERK, JNK and PI-3 kinase/Akt. This leads to the Ser/Thr phosphorylation and redistribution of ZO-1 and occludin. Atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP) inhibits VEGF signaling and TJ protein phosphorylation by interaction with both guanylate cyclase and natriuretic peptide clearance receptors [251].

4.3.4. Rho/ROCK and MLCK signaling regulates occludin phosphorylation

The expression of a dominant negative Rho mutant causes a reduction of the slower migrating, more highly phosphorylated occludin isoforms, whereas a constitutively active Rho mutant causes accumulation of the highly Ser/Thr phosphorylated occludin isoforms [132].

In brain endothelial cells Rho/ROCK signaling causes BBB impairment that involves occludin and claudin-5 phosphorylation in Ser and Tyr residues [252] (Fig. 3). This process appears to be the underlying cause of BBB impairment that allows monocytes migration into the brain during HIV-1 encephalitis. The potent chemokine monocyte chemoattractant protein CCL2 increases BBB permeability, redistributes TJ proteins and generates de novo Ser/Thr phosphorylation of occludin, ZO-1, ZO-2 and claudin-5. cPKC α and aPKC ζ participate in this event,

being cPKC α a downstream target for RhoA. Thus brain endothelial permeability can be regulated by monocyte chemoattractant proteins that directly activate aPKC ζ or that, through Rho activation, activate cPKC α and ROCK [253] (Fig. 3).

Other substances known to increase endothelial permeability and to promote the phosphorylation of TJ proteins including occludin and claudin-5 are ethanol and its metabolite acetaldehyde [254], as well as oxidative stress stemming from ethanol metabolism [255]. Alcohol induced disruption of the BBB enhances monocytes migration across brain endothelial cells, due to the activation of MLCK that triggers the phosphorylation of MLC and TJ proteins. Lysophosphatidic acid (LPA), a molecule secreted from activated platelets, and histamine trigger the disappearance of perijunctional actin and MLC phosphorylation. Interestingly while LPA activates RhoA and its target ROCK, histamine can increase occludin phosphorylation in a manner independent of both RhoA and ROCK [256].

4.3.5. Occludin is a phosphorylation target of nPKC and case in kinases 2 and 1 $\!$

In MDCK cells the inhibition of nPKC δ with rottlerin blocks occludin phosphorylation and the formation of the TJ barrier [44]. Thus, treatment of mammalian epithelial cells with the non-phorbol ester agonist of conventional and novel PKCs, bryostatin-1 leads to the appearance of a higher molecular weight form of occludin and increases the barrier function of TJs [81]. Although the precise site of action of nPKC δ on occludin remains unknown, it was previously reported that Ser338 is an in vitro PKC phosphorylation site [257].

Another Ser/Thr kinase involved in occludin phosphorylation is casein kinase 2 (CK2). This kinase phosphorylates two residues that are highly conserved in several species (Thr375 *Xenopus*/403 mouse/405 rat/404 human/403 dog and Ser379 *Xenopus*/407 mouse/409 rat/408 human/407 dog) [258,259]. Casein kinase Iɛ (CKIɛ) also phosphorylates occludin and colocalizes and co-immunoprecipitates with occludin from human endothelial cells (Table 1). The regions of occludin sufficient for CKIɛ binding and phosphorylation are located upstream of the CK2 phosphorylation sites [260]. The impact of occludin phosphorylation by CK2 and CKIɛ on TJ function is not yet known.

4.3.6. Tyrosine phosphorylation of occludin compromises barrier integrity of TJs

Tyrosine phosphorylation regulates occludin function. For example, treatment of retinal pigment epithelial cells (RPE) with HGF [213] and of brain capillaries and human colonic biopsies with Tyr phosphatase inhibitors [261,262] compromises the barrier integrity of the TJ and increases occludin Tyr phosphorylation. In endothelial cells the hemodynamic force of cyclic circumferential strain decreases permeability and occludin tyrosine phosphorylation and promotes localization of occludin and ZO-1 to the cell borders [263], while shear stress increases hydraulic conductivity and occludin phosphorylation [264].

Moreover, disruption of the BBB by cerebral ischemia [265], or by exposure to glutamate [266], an amino acid that increases

dramatically in cerebral ischemia and stroke, augments Tyr phosphorylation of occludin. This process is coincident with an increase in the activity of c-Src [265] and FAK [261] tyrosine kinases.

In endothelial cells oxidative stress and oxidized phospholipids increase paracellular permeability and occludin phosphorylation [267]. In epithelial cells, oxidative stress triggers TJ impairment, tyrosine phosphorylation of occludin and ZO-1, their dissociation from the actin cytoskeleton and redistribution from the junctional area, and reduces their co-immunoprecipitation [211,209]. Oxidative stress induces activation and membrane translocation of c-Src [210]. In vitro tyrosine phosphorylation of the carboxyl terminal tail of occludin by c-Src attenuates the ability of occludin to bind ZO-1, ZO-2 and ZO-3, thus suggesting that c-Src-mediated disruption of TJs involves Tyr phosphorylation of occludin [268]. Oxidative stress also increases the association of occludin with PI3K. The latter is involved in the oxidative stress induced disruption of TJs [209].

In contrast to the abovementioned results that reveal a deleterious effect of Tyr phosphorylation on TJ integrity, during TJ assembly induced in MDCK cells by ATP [208] or Ca^{2+} repletion, occludin becomes Tyr phosphorylated by the action of the non-receptor tyrosine kinase c-Yes [269] (Table 1).

5. Concluding remarks

TJs are dynamic structures regulated by the crosstalk of diverse signaling pathways, whose action varies according to the cellular environment. The availability of stimulators and inhibitors of different steps in the signaling cascades, of dominant active and negative Rho mutants, and of TJ proteins with point mutations at putative phosphorylation sites has ascertained the participation of multiple kinases and phosphatases in finely tuning TJ stability. The identification of TJ proteins as targets of multiple kinases activated under diverse pathological conditions might allow the design of new therapeutic strategies for the treatment of a broad spectrum of human diseases.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by grant 45691-Q from the National Council for Science and Technology of Mexico (CONACYT). Rocio Tapia and David Chamorro are recipients of doctoral fellowships from CONACYT (166727 and 165787).

References

- M.G. Farquhar, G.E. Palade, Junctional complexes in various epithelia, J. Cell Biol. 17 (1963) 375–412.
- [2] J.P. Chalcroft, S. Bullivant, An interpretation of liver cell membrane and junction structure based on observation of freeze–fracture replicas of both sides of the fracture, J. Cell Biol. 47 (1970) 49–60.
- [3] J.M. Anderson, M. Cereijido, Evolution of ideas on the tight junction, in: M. Cereijido, J.M. Anderson (Eds.), Tight Junctions, CRC Press, Boca Raton, 2001, pp. 1–18.
- [4] L. Gonzalez-Mariscal, A. Avila, A. Betanzos, The relationship between structure and function of tight junctions, in: M. Cereijido, J.M. Anderson (Eds.), Tight Junctions, CRC Press, Boca Raton, 2001, pp. 89–120.

- [5] P.R. Dragsten, R. Blumenthal, J.S. Handler, Membrane asymmetry in epithelia: is the tight junction a barrier to diffusion in the plasma membrane? Nature 294 (1981) 718–722.
- [6] L.J. Mandel, R. Bacallao, G. Zampighi, Uncoupling of the molecular 'fence' and paracellular 'gate' functions in epithelial tight junctions, Nature 361 (1993) 552–555.
- [7] L. Gonzalez-Mariscal, S. Lechuga, E. Garay, Role of tight junctions in cell proliferation and cancer, Prog. Histochem. Cytochem. 42 (2007) 1–57.
- [8] L. Gonzalez-Mariscal, A. Betanzos, P. Nava, B.E. Jaramillo, Tight junction proteins, Prog. Biophys. Mol. Biol. 81 (2003) 1–44.
- [9] E.E. Schneeberger, R.D. Lynch, The tight junction: a multifunctional complex, Am. J. Physiol., Cell Physiol. 286 (2004) C1213–C1228.
- [10] L. Gonzalez-Mariscal, A. Betanzos, A. Avila-Flores, MAGUK proteins: structure and role in the tight junction, Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 11 (2000) 315–324.
- [11] E. Lopez-Bayghen, B.E. Jaramillo, M. Huerta, A. Betanzos, L. Gonzalez-Mariscal, Tight junction proteins that make round trips to the nucleus, in: L. Gonzalez-Mariscal (Ed.), Tight Junctions, Landes Bioscience and Springer Science, Georgetown and New York, 2006, pp. 76–100.
- [12] C.J. Gottardi, M. Arpin, A.S. Fanning, D. Louvard, The junctionassociated protein, zonula occludens-1, localizes to the nucleus before the maturation and during the remodeling of cell-cell contacts, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 93 (1996) 10779–10784.
- [13] S. Islas, J. Vega, L. Ponce, L. Gonzalez-Mariscal, Nuclear localization of the tight junction protein ZO-2 in epithelial cells, Exp. Cell Res. 274 (2002) 138–148.
- [14] A. Traweger, R. Fuchs, I.A. Krizbai, T.M. Weiger, H.C. Bauer, H. Bauer, The tight junction protein ZO-2 localizes to the nucleus and interacts with the heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein scaffold attachment factor-B, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 2692–2700.
- [15] M.S. Balda, M.D. Garrett, K. Matter, The ZO-1-associated Y-box factor ZONAB regulates epithelial cell proliferation and cell density, J. Cell Biol. 160 (2003) 423–432.
- [16] A. Betanzos, M. Huerta, E. Lopez-Bayghen, E. Azuara, J. Amerena, L. Gonzalez-Mariscal, The tight junction protein ZO-2 associates with Jun, Fos and C/EBP transcription factors in epithelial cells, Exp. Cell Res. 292 (2004) 51–66.
- [17] H.Y. Huang, R. Li, Q. Sun, J. Wang, P. Zhou, H. Han, W.H. Zhang, LIM protein KyoT2 interacts with human tight junction protein ZO-2-i3, Yichuan Xuebao 29 (2002) 953–958.
- [18] M. Huerta, R. Muñoz, R. Tapia, E. Soto-Reyes, F. Recillas-Targa, L. Gonzalez-Mariscal, E. Lopez-Bayghen, Cyclin D1 is transcriptionally down-regulated by ZO-2 via en E BOX and the transcription factor c-Myc, Mol. Biol. Cell. 2007 Sep 19; [Epub ahead of print].
- [19] A. Tsapara, K. Matter, M.S. Balda, The heat-shock protein Apg-2 binds to the tight junction protein ZO-1 and regulates transcriptional activity of ZONAB, Mol. Biol. Cell 17 (2006) 1322–1330.
- [20] K. Morita, M. Furuse, K. Fujimoto, S. Tsukita, Claudin multigene family encoding four-transmembrane domain protein components of tight junction strands, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 96 (1999) 511–516.
- [21] S. Amasheh, N. Meiri, A.H. Gitter, Claudin-2 forms cation selective pores in tight junctions of epithelial cells, Gastroenterology 122 (2002) A18.
- [22] D.B. Simon, Y. Lu, K.A. Choate, H. Velazquez, E. Al Sabban, M. Praga, G. Casari, A. Bettinelli, G. Colussi, J. Rodriguez-Soriano, D. McCredie, D. Milford, S. Sanjad, R.P. Lifton, Paracellin-1, a renal tight junction protein required for paracellular Mg²⁺ resorption, Science 285 (1999) 103–106.
- [23] A.S. Yu, A.H. Enck, W.I. Lencer, E.E. Schneeberger, Claudin-8 expression in Madin–Darby canine kidney cells augments the paracellular barrier to cation permeation, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 17350–17359.
- [24] Y. Kiuchi-Saishin, S. Gotoh, M. Furuse, A. Takasuga, Y. Tano, S. Tsukita, Differential expression patterns of claudins, tight junction membrane proteins, in mouse nephron segments, J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 13 (2002) 875–886.
- [25] J.L. Reyes, M. Lamas, D. Martin, N.M. del Carmen, S. Islas, J. Luna, M. Tauc, L. Gonzalez-Mariscal, The renal segmental distribution of claudins changes with development, Kidney Int. 62 (2002) 476–487.
- [26] H. Wolburg, K. Wolburg-Buchholz, J. Kraus, G. Rascher-Eggstein, S. Liebner, S. Hamm, F. Duffner, E.H. Grote, W. Risau, B. Engelhardt,

Localization of claudin-3 in tight junctions of the blood-brain barrier is selectively lost during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and human glioblastoma multiforme, Acta Neuropathol. (Berl) 105 (2003) 586-592.

- [27] K. Morita, H. Sasaki, M. Furuse, S. Tsukita, Endothelial claudin: claudin-5/TMVCF constitutes tight junction strands in endothelial cells, J. Cell Biol. 147 (1999) 185–194.
- [28] T. Nitta, M. Hata, S. Gotoh, Y. Seo, H. Sasaki, N. Hashimoto, M. Furuse, S. Tsukita, Size-selective loosening of the blood-brain barrier in claudin-5-deficient mice, J. Cell Biol. 161 (2003) 653–660.
- [29] S. Lievano, L. Alarcon, B. Chavez-Munguia, L. Gonzalez-Mariscal, Endothelia of term human placentae display diminished expression of tight junction proteins during preeclampsia, Cell Tissue Res. 324 (3) (2006) 433–448.
- [30] L. Leach, M.O. Babawale, M. Anderson, M. Lammiman, Vasculogenesis, angiogenesis and the molecular organisation of endothelial junctions in the early human placenta, J. Vasc. Res. 39 (2002) 246–259.
- [31] M. Furuse, K. Fujimoto, N. Sato, T. Hirase, S. Tsukita, S. Tsukita, Overexpression of occludin, a tight junction-associated integral membrane protein, induces the formation of intracellular multilamellar bodies bearing tight junction-like structures, J. Cell Sci. 109 (Pt 2) (1996) 429–435.
- [32] M.S. Balda, J.A. Whitney, C. Flores, S. Gonzalez, M. Cereijido, K. Matter, Functional dissociation of paracellular permeability and transepithelial electrical resistance and disruption of the apical-basolateral intramembrane diffusion barrier by expression of a mutant tight junction membrane protein, J. Cell Biol. 134 (1996) 1031–1049.
- [33] K.M. McCarthy, I.B. Skare, M.C. Stankewich, M. Furuse, S. Tsukita, R. A. Rogers, R.D. Lynch, E.E. Schneeberger, Occludin is a functional component of the tight junction, J. Cell Sci. 109 (Pt 9) (1996) 2287–2298.
- [34] M. Saitou, M. Furuse, H. Sasaki, J.D. Schulzke, M. Fromm, H. Takano, T. Noda, S. Tsukita, Complex phenotype of mice lacking occludin, a component of tight junction strands, Mol. Biol. Cell 11 (2000) 4131–4142.
- [35] B.R. Stevenson, J.M. Anderson, I.D. Braun, M.S. Mooseker, Phosphorylation of the tight-junction protein ZO-1 in two strains of Madin–Darby canine kidney cells which differ in transepithelial resistance, Biochem. J. 263 (1989) 597–599.
- [36] J.J. Eckert, A. McCallum, A. Mears, M.G. Rumsby, I.T. Cameron, T.P. Fleming, Specific PKC isoforms regulate blastocoel formation during mouse preimplantation development, Dev. Biol. 274 (2004) 384–401.
- [37] I. Helfrich, A. Schmitz, P. Zigrino, C. Michels, I. Haase, A. Le Bivic, M. Leitges, C.M. Niessen, Role of aPKC isoforms and their binding partners Par3 and Par6 in epidermal barrier formation, J. Invest. Dermatol. 127 (2007) 782–791.
- [38] Y. Izumi, T. Hirose, Y. Tamai, S. Hirai, Y. Nagashima, T. Fujimoto, Y. Tabuse, K.J. Kemphues, S. Ohno, An atypical PKC directly associates and colocalizes at the epithelial tight junction with ASIP, a mammalian homologue of *Caenorhabditis elegans* polarity protein PAR-3, J. Cell Biol. 143 (1998) 95–106.
- [39] A. Avila-Flores, E. Rendon-Huerta, J. Moreno, S. Islas, A. Betanzos, M. Robles-Flores, L. Gonzalez-Mariscal, Tight-junction protein zonula occludens 2 is a target of phosphorylation by protein kinase C, Biochem. J. 360 (2001) 295–304.
- [40] R.O. Stuart, S.K. Nigam, Regulated assembly of tight junctions by protein kinase C, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 92 (1995) 6072–6076.
- [41] V. Dodane, B. Kachar, Identification of isoforms of G proteins and PKC that colocalize with tight junctions, J. Membr. Biol. 149 (1996) 199–209.
- [42] A. Nusrat, J.A. Chen, C.S. Foley, T.W. Liang, J. Tom, M. Cromwell, C. Quan, R.J. Mrsny, The coiled-coil domain of occludin can act to organize structural and functional elements of the epithelial tight junction, J. Biol. Chem. 275 (2000) 29816–29822.
- [43] M.S. Balda, L. Gonzalez-Mariscal, K. Matter, M. Cereijido, J.M. Anderson, Assembly of the tight junction: the role of diacylglycerol, J. Cell Biol. 123 (1993) 293–302.
- [44] A.Y. Andreeva, J. Piontek, I.E. Blasig, D.I. Utepbergenov, Assembly of tight junction is regulated by the antagonism of conventional and novel protein kinase C isoforms, Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 38 (2006) 222–233.

- [45] M.S. Balda, L. Gonzalez-Mariscal, R.G. Contreras, M. Macias-Silva, M.E. Torres-Marquez, J.A. Garcia-Sainz, M. Cereijido, Assembly and sealing of tight junctions: possible participation of G-proteins, phospholipase C, protein kinase C and calmodulin, J. Membr. Biol. 122 (1991) 193–202.
- [46] S.K. Nigam, N. Denisenko, E. Rodriguez-Boulan, S. Citi, The role of phosphorylation in development of tight junctions in cultured renal epithelial (MDCK) cells, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 181 (1991) 548–553.
- [47] N. Denisenko, P. Burighel, S. Citi, Different effects of protein kinase inhibitors on the localization of junctional proteins at cell-cell contact sites, J. Cell Sci. 107 (Pt 4) (1994) 969–981.
- [48] K. Yoshida, S. Kanaoka, T. Takai, T. Uezato, N. Miura, M. Kajimura, A. Hishida, EGF rapidly translocates tight junction proteins from the cytoplasm to the cell–cell contact via protein kinase C activation in TMK-1 gastric cancer cells, Exp. Cell Res. 309 (2005) 397–409.
- [49] A.M. Terres, J.M. Pajares, A.M. Hopkins, A. Murphy, A. Moran, A.W. Baird, D. Kelleher, *Helicobacter pylori* disrupts epithelial barrier function in a process inhibited by protein kinase C activators, Infect. Immun. 66 (1998) 2943–2950.
- [50] L.M. Perez, P. Milkiewicz, J. Ahmed-Choudhury, E. Elias, J.E. Ochoa, E.J. Sanchez Pozzi, R. Coleman, M.G. Roma, Oxidative stress induces actin-cytoskeletal and tight-junctional alterations in hepatocytes by a Ca²⁺-dependent, PKC-mediated mechanism: protective effect of PKA, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 40 (2006) 2005–2017.
- [51] S. Citi, Protein kinase inhibitors prevent junction dissociation induced by low extracellular calcium in MDCK epithelial cells, J. Cell Biol. 117 (1992) 169–178.
- [52] F. Lacaz-Vieira, Tight junction dynamics: oscillations and the role of protein kinase C, J. Membr. Biol. 178 (2000) 151–161.
- [53] F. Lacaz-Vieira, M.M. Jaeger, Protein kinase inhibitors and the dynamics of tight junction opening and closing in A6 cell monolayers, J. Membr. Biol. 184 (2001) 185–196.
- [54] Y.H. Tai, J. Flick, S.A. Levine, J.L. Madara, G.W. Sharp, M. Donowitz, Regulation of tight junction resistance in T84 monolayers by elevation in intracellular Ca²⁺: a protein kinase C effect, J. Membr. Biol. 149 (1996) 71–79.
- [55] J.M. Mullin, T.G. O'Brien, Effects of tumor promoters on LLC-PK1 renal epithelial tight junctions and transepithelial fluxes, Am. J. Physiol. 251 (1986) C597–C602.
- [56] G.K. Ojakian, Tumor promoter-induced changes in the permeability of epithelial cell tight junctions, Cell 23 (1981) 95–103.
- [57] S. Muto, Y. Sato, Y. Umeki, K. Yoshida, T. Yoshioka, Y. Nishikawa, T. Nakamura, M. Mori, K. Koyama, K. Enomoto, HGF/SF-induced spreading of MDCK cells correlates with disappearance of barmotin/ 7H6, a tight junction-associated protein, from the cell membrane, Cell Biol. Int. 24 (2000) 439–446.
- [58] M. Schmitt, A. Horbach, R. Kubitz, A. Frilling, D. Haussinger, Disruption of hepatocellular tight junctions by vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF): a novel mechanism for tumor invasion, J. Hepatol. 41 (2004) 274–283.
- [59] M.H. Nathanson, A. Gautam, O.C. Ng, R. Bruck, J.L. Boyer, Hormonal regulation of paracellular permeability in isolated rat hepatocyte couplets, Am. J. Physiol. 262 (1992) G1079–G1086.
- [60] C.B. Coyne, M.K. Vanhook, T.M. Gambling, J.L. Carson, R.C. Boucher, L.G. Johnson, Regulation of airway tight junctions by proinflammatory cytokines, Mol. Biol. Cell 13 (2002) 3218–3234.
- [61] G.D. Kanmogne, K. Schall, J. Leibhart, B. Knipe, H.E. Gendelman, Y. Persidsky, HIV-1 gp120 compromises blood-brain barrier integrity and enhances monocyte migration across blood-brain barrier: implication for viral neuropathogenesis, J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 27 (2007) 123–134.
- [62] A. Fasano, C. Fiorentini, G. Donelli, S. Uzzau, J.B. Kaper, K. Margaretten, X. Ding, S. Guandalini, L. Comstock, S.E. Goldblum, Zonula occludens toxin modulates tight junctions through protein kinase C-dependent actin reorganization, in vitro, J. Clin. Invest. 96 (1995) 710–720.

- [63] M.L. Chen, C. Pothoulakis, J.T. LaMont, Protein kinase C signaling regulates ZO-1 translocation and increased paracellular flux of T84 colonocytes exposed to *Clostridium difficile* toxin A, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 4247–4254.
- [64] S.K. Sukumaran, N.V. Prasadarao, *Escherichia coli* K1 invasion increases human brain microvascular endothelial cell monolayer permeability by disassembling vascular–endothelial cadherins at tight junctions, J. Infect. Dis. 188 (2003) 1295–1309.
- [65] D.J. Philpott, D.M. McKay, W. Mak, M.H. Perdue, P.M. Sherman, Signal transduction pathways involved in enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*induced alterations in T84 epithelial permeability, Infect. Immun. 66 (1998) 1680–1687.
- [66] C.W. Marano, K.V. Laughlin, L.M. Russo, J.M. Mullin, The protein kinase C inhibitor, bisindolylmaleimide, inhibits the TPA-induced but not the TNF-induced increase in LLC-PK1 transepithelial permeability, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 209 (1995) 669–676.
- [67] H. Clarke, N. Ginanni, K.V. Laughlin, J.B. Smith, G.R. Pettit, J.M. Mullin, The transient increase of tight junction permeability induced by bryostatin 1 correlates with rapid downregulation of protein kinase Calpha, Exp. Cell Res. 261 (2000) 239–249.
- [68] J.M. Mullin, J.A. Kampherstein, K.V. Laughlin, D.T. Saladik, A.P. Soler, Transepithelial paracellular leakiness induced by chronic phorbol ester exposure correlates with polyp-like foci and redistribution of protein kinase C-alpha, Carcinogenesis 18 (1997) 2339–2345.
- [69] J.M. Mullin, A.P. Soler, K.V. Laughlin, J.A. Kampherstein, L.M. Russo, D.T. Saladik, K. George, R.D. Shurina, T.G. O'Brien, Chronic exposure of LLC-PK1 epithelia to the phorbol ester TPA produces polyp-like foci with leaky tight junctions and altered protein kinase C-alpha expression and localization, Exp. Cell Res. 227 (1996) 12–22.
- [70] A. Sjo, K.E. Magnusson, K.H. Peterson, Distinct effects of protein kinase C on the barrier function at different developmental stages, Biosci. Rep. 23 (2003) 87–102.
- [71] B. Ellis, E.E. Schneeberger, C.A. Rabito, Cellular variability in the development of tight junctions after activation of protein kinase C, Am. J. Physiol. 263 (1992) F293–F300.
- [72] J.J. Eckert, A. McCallum, A. Mears, M.G. Rumsby, I.T. Cameron, T.P. Fleming, PKC signalling regulates tight junction membrane assembly in the pre-implantation mouse embryo, Reproduction 127 (2004) 653–667.
- [73] J.M. Mullin, J.A. Kampherstein, K.V. Laughlin, C.E. Clarkin, R.D. Miller, Z. Szallasi, B. Kachar, A.P. Soler, D. Rosson, Overexpression of protein kinase C-delta increases tight junction permeability in LLC-PK1 epithelia, Am. J. Physiol. 275 (1998) C544–C554.
- [74] G. Hecht, B. Robinson, A. Koutsouris, Reversible disassembly of an intestinal epithelial monolayer by prolonged exposure to phorbol ester, Am. J. Physiol. 266 (1994) G214–G221.
- [75] A. Sjo, K.E. Magnusson, K.H. Peterson, Association of alphadystrobrevin with reorganizing tight junctions, J. Membr. Biol. 203 (2005) 21–30.
- [76] S. Angelow, P. Zeni, B. Hohn, H.J. Galla, Phorbol ester induced shortand long-term permeabilization of the blood-CSF barrier in vitro, Brain Res. 1063 (2005) 168–179.
- [77] E. Cario, G. Gerken, D.K. Podolsky, Toll-like receptor 2 enhances ZO-1associated intestinal epithelial barrier integrity via protein kinase C, Gastroenterology 127 (2004) 224–238.
- [78] J.J. Eckert, A. McCallum, A. Mears, M.G. Rumsby, I.T. Cameron, T.P. Fleming, Relative contribution of cell contact pattern, specific PKC isoforms and gap junctional communication in tight junction assembly in the mouse early embryo, Dev. Biol. 288 (2005) 234–247.
- [79] A.A. Zyrek, C. Cichon, S. Helms, C. Enders, U. Sonnenborn, M.A. Schmidt, Molecular mechanisms underlying the probiotic effects of *Escherichia coli* Nissle 1917 involve ZO-2 and PKCzeta redistribution resulting in tight junction and epithelial barrier repair, Cell. Microbiol. 9 (3) (2007) 804–816.
- [80] A. Banan, L.J. Zhang, M. Shaikh, J.Z. Fields, S. Choudhary, C.B. Forsyth, A. Farhadi, A. Keshavarzian, theta Isoform of protein kinase C alters barrier function in intestinal epithelium through modulation of distinct claudin isotypes: a novel mechanism for regulation of permeability, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 313 (2005) 962–982.

- [81] J. Yoo, A. Nichols, J. Mammen, I. Calvo, J.C. Song, R.T. Worrell, K. Matlin, J.B. Matthews, Bryostatin-1 enhances barrier function in T84 epithelia through PKC-dependent regulation of tight junction proteins, Am. J. Physiol., Cell Physiol. 285 (2003) C300–C309.
- [82] J.C. Song, C.M. Hanson, V. Tsai, O.C. Farokhzad, M. Lotz, J.B. Matthews, Regulation of epithelial transport and barrier function by distinct protein kinase C isoforms, Am. J. Physiol., Cell Physiol. 281 (2001) C649–C661.
- [83] P.J. Plant, J.P. Fawcett, D.C. Lin, A.D. Holdorf, K. Binns, S. Kulkarni, T. Pawson, A polarity complex of mPar-6 and atypical PKC binds, phosphorylates and regulates mammalian Lgl, Nat. Cell Biol. 5 (2003) 301–308.
- [84] T. Yamanaka, Y. Horikoshi, Y. Sugiyama, C. Ishiyama, A. Suzuki, T. Hirose, A. Iwamatsu, A. Shinohara, S. Ohno, Mammalian Lgl forms a protein complex with PAR-6 and aPKC independently of PAR-3 to regulate epithelial cell polarity, Curr. Biol. 13 (2003) 734–743.
- [85] T.W. Hurd, L. Gao, M.H. Roh, I.G. Macara, B. Margolis, Direct interaction of two polarity complexes implicated in epithelial tight junction assembly, Nat. Cell Biol. 5 (2003) 137–142.
- [86] D.N. Cox, S.A. Seyfried, L.Y. Jan, Y.N. Jan, Bazooka and atypical protein kinase C are required to regulate oocyte differentiation in the *Drosophila* ovary, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 98 (2001) 14475–14480.
- [87] D.G. Drubin, W.J. Nelson, Origins of cell polarity, Cell 84 (1996) 335–344.
- [88] A. Suzuki, T. Yamanaka, T. Hirose, N. Manabe, K. Mizuno, M. Shimizu, K. Akimoto, Y. Izumi, T. Ohnishi, S. Ohno, Atypical protein kinase C is involved in the evolutionarily conserved par protein complex and plays a critical role in establishing epithelia-specific junctional structures, J. Cell Biol. 152 (2001) 1183–1196.
- [89] T. Yamanaka, Y. Horikoshi, A. Suzuki, Y. Sugiyama, K. Kitamura, R. Maniwa, Y. Nagai, A. Yamashita, T. Hirose, H. Ishikawa, S. Ohno, PAR-6 regulates aPKC activity in a novel way and mediates cell–cell contact-induced formation of the epithelial junctional complex, Genes Cells 6 (2001) 721–731.
- [90] T. Hirose, Y. Izumi, Y. Nagashima, Y. Tamai-Nagai, H. Kurihara, T. Sakai, Y. Suzuki, T. Yamanaka, A. Suzuki, K. Mizuno, S. Ohno, Involvement of ASIP/PAR-3 in the promotion of epithelial tight junction formation, J. Cell Sci. 115 (2002) 2485–2495.
- [91] K. Ebnet, A. Suzuki, Y. Horikoshi, T. Hirose, M.K. Meyer zu Brickwedde, S. Ohno, D. Vestweber, The cell polarity protein ASIP/ PAR-3 directly associates with junctional adhesion molecule (JAM), EMBO J. 20 (2001) 3738–3748.
- [92] X.F. Liu, H. Ishida, R. Raziuddin, T. Miki, Nucleotide exchange factor ECT2 interacts with the polarity protein complex Par6/Par3/protein kinase Czeta (PKCzeta) and regulates PKCzeta activity, Mol. Cell. Biol. 24 (2004) 6665–6675.
- [93] X.F. Liu, S. Ohno, T. Miki, Nucleotide exchange factor ECT2 regulates epithelial cell polarity, Cell. Signal. 18 (2006) 1604–1615.
- [94] A.D. Chalmers, M. Pambos, J. Mason, S. Lang, C. Wylie, N. Papalopulu, aPKC, Crumbs3 and Lgl2 control apicobasal polarity in early vertebrate development, Development 132 (2005) 977–986.
- [95] S. Sotillos, M.T. Diaz-Meco, E. Caminero, J. Moscat, S. Campuzano, DaPKC-dependent phosphorylation of Crumbs is required for epithelial cell polarity in *Drosophila*, J. Cell Biol. 166 (2004) 549–557.
- [96] S. Iden, D. Rehder, B. August, A. Suzuki, K. Wolburg-Buchholz, H. Wolburg, S. Ohno, J. Behrens, D. Vestweber, K. Ebnet, A distinct PAR complex associates physically with VE-cadherin in vertebrate endothelial cells, EMBO Rep. 7 (2006) 1239–1246.
- [97] T. D'Souza, R. Agarwal, P.J. Morin, Phosphorylation of claudin-3 at threonine 192 by cAMP-dependent protein kinase regulates tight junction barrier function in ovarian cancer cells, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 26233–26240.
- [98] G. Kottra, C. Vank, The forskolin-induced opening of tight junctions in *Xenopus* gallbladder epithelium is mediated by protein kinase C, Cell. Mol. Biol. (Noisy.-Le-Grand) 49 (2003) 33–43.
- [99] A. Ikari, S. Matsumoto, H. Harada, K. Takagi, H. Hayashi, Y. Suzuki, M. Degawa, M. Miwa, Phosphorylation of paracellin-1 at Ser217 by protein

kinase A is essential for localization in tight junctions, J. Cell Sci. 119 (2006) 1781–1789.

- [100] J.C. Li, D. Mruk, C.Y. Cheng, The inter-Sertoli tight junction permeability barrier is regulated by the interplay of protein phosphatases and kinases: an in vitro study, J. Androl. 22 (2001) 847–856.
- [101] T. Soma, H. Chiba, Y. Kato-Mori, T. Wada, T. Yamashita, T. Kojima, N. Sawada, Thr(207) of claudin-5 is involved in size-selective loosening of the endothelial barrier by cyclic AMP, Exp. Cell Res. 300 (2004) 202–212.
- [102] C. Klingler, U. Kniesel, S.D. Bamforth, H. Wolburg, B. Engelhardt, W. Risau, Disruption of epithelial tight junctions is prevented by cyclic nucleotide-dependent protein kinase inhibitors, Histochem. Cell Biol. 113 (2000) 349–361.
- [103] D. Krause, U. Mischeck, H.J. Galla, R. Dermietzel, Correlation of zonula occludens ZO-1 antigen expression and transendothelial resistance in porcine and rat cultured cerebral endothelial cells, Neurosci. Lett. 128 (1991) 301–304.
- [104] L.L. Rubin, D.E. Hall, S. Porter, K. Barbu, C. Cannon, H.C. Horner, M. Janatpour, C.W. Liaw, K. Manning, J. Morales, A cell culture model of the blood-brain barrier, J. Cell Biol. 115 (1991) 1725–1735.
- [105] T.J. Raub, Signal transduction and glial cell modulation of cultured brain microvessel endothelial cell tight junctions, Am. J. Physiol. 271 (1996) C495–C503.
- [106] T. Ishizaki, H. Chiba, T. Kojima, M. Fujibe, T. Soma, H. Miyajima, K. Nagasawa, I. Wada, N. Sawada, Cyclic AMP induces phosphorylation of claudin-5 immunoprecipitates and expression of claudin-5 gene in blood-brain-barrier endothelial cells via protein kinase Adependent and -independent pathways, Exp. Cell Res. 290 (2003) 275–288.
- [107] H. Wolburg, J. Neuhaus, U. Kniesel, B. Krauss, E.M. Schmid, M. Ocalan, C. Farrell, W. Risau, Modulation of tight junction structure in blood– brain barrier endothelial cells. Effects of tissue culture, second messengers and cocultured astrocytes, J. Cell Sci. 107 (Pt 5) (1994) 1347–1357.
- [108] R.H. Adamson, B. Liu, G.N. Fry, L.L. Rubin, F.E. Curry, Microvascular permeability and number of tight junctions are modulated by cAMP, Am. J. Physiol. 274 (1998) H1885–H1894.
- [109] D.W. Lawrence, K.M. Comerford, S.P. Colgan, Role of VASP in reestablishment of epithelial tight junction assembly after Ca²⁺ switch, Am. J. Physiol., Cell Physiol. 282 (2002) C1235–C1245.
- [110] M. Nilsson, H. Fagman, L.E. Ericson, Ca²⁺-dependent and Ca²⁺independent regulation of the thyroid epithelial junction complex by protein kinases, Exp. Cell Res. 225 (1996) 1–11.
- [111] W.H. Telfer, Y. Wang, cAMP-stimulated termination of vitellogenesis in *Hyalophora cecropia*: formation of a diffusion barrier and the loss of patency, J. Insect Physiol. 43 (1997) 675–684.
- [112] K. Kohler, D. Louvard, A. Zahraoui, Rab13 regulates PKA signaling during tight junction assembly, J. Cell Biol. 165 (2004) 175–180.
- [113] S. Fischer, M. Wiesnet, H.H. Marti, D. Renz, W. Schaper, Simultaneous activation of several second messengers in hypoxia-induced hyperpermeability of brain derived endothelial cells, J. Cell. Physiol. 198 (2004) 359–369.
- [114] T. Murohara, J.R. Horowitz, M. Silver, Y. Tsurumi, D. Chen, A. Sullivan, J.M. Isner, Vascular endothelial growth factor/vascular permeability factor enhances vascular permeability via nitric oxide and prostacyclin, Circulation 97 (1998) 99–107.
- [115] H.M. Wu, Y. Yuan, D.C. Zawieja, J. Tinsley, H.J. Granger, Role of phospholipase C, protein kinase C, and calcium in VEGFinduced venular hyperpermeability, Am. J. Physiol. 276 (1999) H535–H542.
- [116] D. Fukumura, T. Gohongi, A. Kadambi, Y. Izumi, J. Ang, C.O. Yun, D.G. Buerk, P.L. Huang, R.K. Jain, Predominant role of endothelial nitric oxide synthase in vascular endothelial growth factor-induced angiogenesis and vascular permeability, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 98 (2001) 2604–2609.
- [117] W.G. Mayhan, VEGF increases permeability of the blood-brain barrier via a nitric oxide synthase/cGMP-dependent pathway, Am. J. Physiol. 276 (1999) C1148-C1153.

- [118] S. Fischer, M. Clauss, M. Wiesnet, D. Renz, W. Schaper, G.F. Karliczek, Hypoxia induces permeability in brain microvessel endothelial cells via VEGF and NO, Am. J. Physiol. 276 (1999) C812–C820.
- [119] S. Fischer, D. Renz, M. Wiesnet, W. Schaper, G.F. Karliczek, Hypothermia abolishes hypoxia-induced hyperpermeability in brain microvessel endothelial cells, Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res. 74 (1999) 135–144.
- [120] D. Wong, K. Dorovini-Zis, S.R. Vincent, Cytokines, nitric oxide, and cGMP modulate the permeability of an in vitro model of the human blood-brain barrier, Exp. Neurol. 190 (2004) 446–455.
- [121] M. Sugita, G.E. Hunt, Y. Liu, K.L. Black, Nitric oxide and cyclic GMP attenuate sensitivity of the blood-tumor barrier permeability to bradykinin, Neurol. Res. 20 (1998) 559–563.
- [122] J.B. Mackie, M. Stins, S. Jovanovie, K.S. Kim, R.T. Bartus, B.V. Zlokovic, Cereport (RMP-7) increases the permeability of human brain microvascular endothelial cell monolayers, Pharm. Res. 16 (1999) 1360–1365.
- [123] X.J. Qu, H.X. Li, S.D. Sun, M.F. Feng, Three-dimensional spheroid model for cultivating WB-F344 cells in simulated microgravity, Shengwu Gongcheng Xuebao 22 (2006) 672–676.
- [124] G.L. Sanford, D. Ellerson, C. Melhado-Gardner, A.E. Sroufe, S. Harris-Hooker, Three-dimensional growth of endothelial cells in the microgravity-based rotating wall vessel bioreactor, In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol., Anim. 38 (2002) 493–504.
- [125] V. Nunbhakdi-Craig, T. Machleidt, E. Ogris, D. Bellotto, C.L. White III, E. Sontag, Protein phosphatase 2A associates with and regulates atypical PKC and the epithelial tight junction complex, J. Cell Biol. 158 (2002) 967–978.
- [126] A. Seth, P. Sheth, B.C. Elias, R. Rao, Protein phosphatases 2A and 1 interact with occludin and negatively regulate the assembly of tight junctions in the Caco-2 cell monolayer, J. Biol. Chem. 282 (2007) 11487–11498.
- [127] S.A. Rajasekaran, S.P. Barwe, J. Gopal, S. Ryazantsev, E.E. Schneeberger, A.K. Rajasekaran, Na-K-ATPase regulates tight junction permeability through occludin phosphorylation in pancreatic epithelial cells, Am. J. Physiol.: Gasterointest. Liver Physiol. 292 (2007) G124–G133.
- [128] H. Lum, J.L. Podolski, M.E. Gurnack, I.T. Schulz, F. Huang, O. Holian, Protein phosphatase 2B inhibitor potentiates endothelial PKC activity and barrier dysfunction, Am. J. Physiol., Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 281 (2001) L546–L555.
- [129] A.D. Verin, C. Cooke, M. Herenyiova, C.E. Patterson, J.G. Garcia, Role of Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent phosphatase 2B in thrombin-induced endothelial cell contractile responses, Am. J. Physiol. 275 (1998) L788–L799.
- [130] T.S. Jou, E.E. Schneeberger, W.J. Nelson, Structural and functional regulation of tight junctions by RhoA and Rac1 small GTPases, J. Cell Biol. 142 (1998) 101–115.
- [131] M. Bruewer, A.M. Hopkins, M.E. Hobert, A. Nusrat, J.L. Madara, RhoA, Rac1, and Cdc42 exert distinct effects on epithelial barrier via selective structural and biochemical modulation of junctional proteins and F-actin, Am. J. Physiol., Cell Physiol. 287 (2004) C327–C335.
- [132] S. Gopalakrishnan, N. Raman, S.J. Atkinson, J.A. Marrs, Rho GTPase signaling regulates tight junction assembly and protects tight junctions during ATP depletion, Am. J. Physiol. 275 (1998) C798–C809.
- [133] A. Nusrat, M. Giry, J.R. Turner, S.P. Colgan, C.A. Parkos, D. Carnes, E. Lemichez, P. Boquet, J.L. Madara, Rho protein regulates tight junctions and perijunctional actin organization in polarized epithelia, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 92 (1995) 10629–10633.
- [134] S.V. Walsh, A.M. Hopkins, J. Chen, S. Narumiya, C.A. Parkos, A. Nusrat, Rho kinase regulates tight junction function and is necessary for tight junction assembly in polarized intestinal epithelia, Gastroenterology 121 (2001) 566–579.
- [135] K. Takaishi, T. Sasaki, H. Kotani, H. Nishioka, Y. Takai, Regulation of cell–cell adhesion by rac and rho small G proteins in MDCK cells, J. Cell Biol. 139 (1997) 1047–1059.
- [136] M. Utech, A.I. Ivanov, S.N. Samarin, M. Bruewer, J.R. Turner, R.J. Mrsny, C.A. Parkos, A. Nusrat, Mechanism of IFN-gamma-induced endocytosis of tight junction proteins: myosin II-dependent vacuolariza-

tion of the apical plasma membrane, Mol. Biol. Cell 16 (2005) 5040-5052.

- [137] N.V. Bogatcheva, D. Adyshev, B. Mambetsariev, N. Moldobaeva, A.D. Verin, Involvement of microtubules, p38, and Rho kinases pathway in 2methoxyestradiol-induced lung vascular barrier dysfunction, Am. J. Physiol., Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 292 (2007) L487–L499.
- [138] A.A. Birukova, D. Adyshev, B. Gorshkov, G.M. Bokoch, K.G. Birukov, A.D. Verin, GEF-H1 is involved in agonist-induced human pulmonary endothelial barrier dysfunction, Am. J. Physiol., Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 290 (2006) L540–L548.
- [139] B. Li, W.D. Zhao, Z.M. Tan, W.G. Fang, L. Zhu, Y.H. Chen, Involvement of Rho/ROCK signalling in small cell lung cancer migration through human brain microvascular endothelial cells, FEBS Lett. 580 (2006) 4252–4260.
- [140] M. Krendel, F.T. Zenke, G.M. Bokoch, Nucleotide exchange factor GEF-H1 mediates cross-talk between microtubules and the actin cytoskeleton, Nat. Cell Biol. 4 (2002) 294–301.
- [141] S. Aijaz, F. D'Atri, S. Citi, M.S. Balda, K. Matter, Binding of GEF-H1 to the tight junction-associated adaptor cingulin results in inhibition of Rho signaling and G1/S phase transition, Dev. Cell 8 (2005) 777-786.
- [142] G. Benais-Pont, A. Punn, C. Flores-Maldonado, J. Eckert, G. Raposo, T.P. Fleming, M. Cereijido, M.S. Balda, K. Matter, Identification of a tight junction-associated guanine nucleotide exchange factor that activates Rho and regulates paracellular permeability, J. Cell Biol. 160 (2003) 729–740.
- [143] T.Y. Ma, D. Tran, N. Hoa, D. Nguyen, M. Merryfield, A. Tarnawski, Mechanism of extracellular calcium regulation of intestinal epithelial tight junction permeability: role of cytoskeletal involvement, Microsc. Res. Tech. 51 (2000) 156–168.
- [144] A.I. Ivanov, I.C. McCall, C.A. Parkos, A. Nusrat, Role for actin filament turnover and a myosin II motor in cytoskeleton-driven disassembly of the epithelial apical junctional complex, Mol. Biol. Cell 15 (2004) 2639–2651.
- [145] G. Hecht, L. Pestic, G. Nikcevic, A. Koutsouris, J. Tripuraneni, D.D. Lorimer, G. Nowak, V. Guerriero Jr., E.L. Elson, P.D. Lanerolle, Expression of the catalytic domain of myosin light chain kinase increases paracellular permeability, Am. J. Physiol. 271 (1996) C1678–C1684.
- [146] L. Shen, E.D. Black, E.D. Witkowski, W.I. Lencer, V. Guerriero, E.E. Schneeberger, J.R. Turner, Myosin light chain phosphorylation regulates barrier function by remodeling tight junction structure, J. Cell Sci. 119 (2006) 2095–2106.
- [147] J.R. Turner, B.K. Rill, S.L. Carlson, D. Carnes, R. Kerner, R.J. Mrsny, J.L. Madara, Physiological regulation of epithelial tight junctions is associated with myosin light-chain phosphorylation, Am. J. Physiol. 273 (1997) C1378–C1385.
- [148] Y. Zolotarevsky, G. Hecht, A. Koutsouris, D.E. Gonzalez, C. Quan, J. Tom, R.J. Mrsny, J.R. Turner, A membrane-permeant peptide that inhibits MLC kinase restores barrier function in in vitro models of intestinal disease, Gastroenterology 123 (2002) 163–172.
- [149] Y. Araki, T. Katoh, A. Ogawa, S. Bamba, A. Andoh, S. Koyama, Y. Fujiyama, T. Bamba, Bile acid modulates transepithelial permeability via the generation of reactive oxygen species in the Caco-2 cell line, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 39 (2005) 769–780.
- [150] S. Dahan, G. Dalmasso, V. Imbert, J.F. Peyron, P. Rampal, D. Czerucka, *Saccharomyces boulardii* interferes with enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*-induced signaling pathways in T84 cells, Infect. Immun. 71 (2003) 766–773.
- [151] A.I. Ivanov, D. Hunt, M. Utech, A. Nusrat, C.A. Parkos, Differential roles for actin polymerization and a myosin II motor in assembly of the epithelial apical junctional complex, Mol. Biol. Cell 16 (2005) 2636–2650.
- [152] J.R. Turner, J.M. Angle, E.D. Black, J.L. Joyal, D.B. Sacks, J.L. Madara, PKC-dependent regulation of transepithelial resistance: roles of MLC and MLC kinase, Am. J. Physiol. 277 (1999) C554–C562.
- [153] J.G. Garcia, H.W. Davis, C.E. Patterson, Regulation of endothelial cell gap formation and barrier dysfunction: role of myosin light chain phosphorylation, J. Cell. Physiol. 163 (1995) 510–522.

- [154] J.M. Mullin, J.M. Leatherman, M.C. Valenzano, E.R. Huerta, J. Verrechio, D.M. Smith, K. Snetselaar, M. Liu, M.K. Francis, C. Sell, Ras mutation impairs epithelial barrier function to a wide range of nonelectrolytes, Mol. Biol. Cell 16 (2005) 5538–5550.
- [155] J.H. Lipschutz, S. Li, A. Arisco, D.F. Balkovetz, Extracellular signalregulated kinases 1/2 control claudin-2 expression in Madin–Darby canine kidney strain I and II cells, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 3780–3788.
- [156] M. Furuse, K. Furuse, H. Sasaki, S. Tsukita, Conversion of zonulae occludentes from tight to leaky strand type by introducing claudin-2 into Madin–Darby canine kidney I cells, J. Cell Biol. 153 (2001) 263–272.
- [157] T. Kinugasa, T. Sakaguchi, X. Gu, H.C. Reinecker, Claudins regulate the intestinal barrier in response to immune mediators, Gastroenterology 118 (2000) 1001–1011.
- [158] G. Feldman, B. Kiely, N. Martin, G. Ryan, T. McMorrow, M.P. Ryan, Role for TGF-{beta} in cyclosporine-induced modulation of renal epithelial barrier function, J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 18 (6) (2007) 1662–1671.
- [159] K.L. Howe, C. Reardon, A. Wang, A. Nazli, D.M. McKay, Transforming growth factor-beta regulation of epithelial tight junction proteins enhances barrier function and blocks enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157: H7-induced increased permeability, Am. J. Pathol. 167 (2005) 1587–1597.
- [160] S. Basuroy, A. Seth, B. Elias, A.P. Naren, R. Rao, MAPK interacts with occludin and mediates EGF-induced prevention of tight junction disruption by hydrogen peroxide, Biochem. J. 393 (2006) 69–77.
- [161] R. Yang, T. Harada, J. Li, T. Uchiyama, Y. Han, J.A. Englert, M.P. Fink, Bile modulates intestinal epithelial barrier function via an extracellular signal related kinase 1/2 dependent mechanism, Intensive Care Med. 31 (2005) 709–717.
- [162] P.L. Woo, D. Ching, Y. Guan, G.L. Firestone, Requirement for Ras and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signaling uncouples the glucocorticoidinduced junctional organization and transepithelial electrical resistance in mammary tumor cells, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 32818–32828.
- [163] M. Campbell, R. Collery, A. McEvoy, T.A. Gardiner, A.W. Stitt, B. Brankin, Involvement of MAPKs in endostatin-mediated regulation of blood–retinal barrier function, Curr. Eye Res. 31 (2006) 1033–1045.
- [164] W.K. Sumanasekera, L. Zhao, M. Ivanova, D.D. Morgan, E.L. Noisin, R.S. Keynton, C.M. Klinge, Effect of estradiol and dihydrotestosterone on hypergravity-induced MAPK signaling and occludin expression in human umbilical vein endothelial cells, Cell Tissue Res. 324 (2006) 243–253.
- [165] W.K. Sumanasekera, G.U. Sumanasekera, K.A. Mattingly, S.M. Dougherty, R.S. Keynton, C.M. Klinge, Estradiol and dihydrotestosterone regulate endothelial cell barrier function following hypergravityinduced alterations in MAPK activity, Am. J. Physiol., Cell Physiol. 239 (2) (2007) C566–C573 [Epub ahead of print].
- [166] Y. Chen, Q. Lu, E.E. Schneeberger, D.A. Goodenough, Restoration of tight junction structure and barrier function by down-regulation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway in ras-transformed Madin– Darby canine kidney cells, Mol. Biol. Cell 11 (2000) 849–862.
- [167] M. Lan, T. Kojima, M. Osanai, H. Chiba, N. Sawada, Oncogenic Raf-1 regulates epithelial to mesenchymal transition via distinct signal transduction pathways in an immortalized mouse hepatic cell line, Carcinogenesis 25 (2004) 2385–2395.
- [168] A.K. Singh, Y. Jiang, S. Gupta, E. Benlhabib, Effects of chronic ethanol drinking on the blood–brain barrier and ensuing neuronal toxicity in alcohol-preferring rats subjected to intraperitoneal LPS injection, Alcohol Alcohol. (2007).
- [169] C. Alvarez, A. Fasano, B.L. Bass, Acute effects of bile acids on the pancreatic duct epithelium in vitro, J. Surg. Res. 74 (1998) 43–46.
- [170] C. Alvarez, C. Nelms, V. D'Addio, B.L. Bass, The pancreatic duct epithelium in vitro: bile acid injury and the effect of epidermal growth factor, Surgery 122 (1997) 476–483.
- [171] I.A. Krizbai, H. Bauer, N. Bresgen, P.M. Eckl, A. Farkas, E. Szatmari, A. Traweger, K. Wejksza, H.C. Bauer, Effect of oxidative stress on the junctional proteins of cultured cerebral endothelial cells, Cell. Mol. Neurobiol. 25 (2005) 129–139.
- [172] S. Fischer, M. Wiesnet, D. Renz, W. Schaper, H₂O₂ induces paracellular permeability of porcine brain-derived microvascular endothelial cells by

activation of the p44/42 MAP kinase pathway, Eur. J. Cell Biol. 84 (2005) 687–697.

- [173] C.G. Kevil, T. Oshima, B. Alexander, L.L. Coe, J.S. Alexander, H(2)O(2)mediated permeability: role of MAPK and occludin, Am. J. Physiol., Cell Physiol. 279 (2000) C21–C30.
- [174] X. Tan, H. Egami, M. Abe, F. Nozawa, M. Hirota, M. Ogawa, Involvement of MMP-7 in invasion of pancreatic cancer cells through activation of the EGFR mediated MEK-ERK signal transduction pathway, J. Clin. Pathol. 58 (2005) 1242–1248.
- [175] T. Mori, X. Wang, T. Aoki, E.H. Lo, Downregulation of matrix metalloproteinase-9 and attenuation of edema via inhibition of ERK mitogen activated protein kinase in traumatic brain injury, J. Neurotrauma 19 (2002) 1411–1419.
- [176] W.Y. Lui, C.H. Wong, D.D. Mruk, C.Y. Cheng, TGF-beta3 regulates the blood-testis barrier dynamics via the p38 mitogen activated protein (MAP) kinase pathway: an in vivo study, Endocrinology 144 (2003) 1139–1142.
- [177] D.M. Patrick, A.K. Leone, J.J. Shellenberger, K.A. Dudowicz, J.M. King, Proinflammatory cytokines tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interferongamma modulate epithelial barrier function in Madin–Darby canine kidney cells through mitogen activated protein kinase signaling, BMC Physiol. 6 (2006) 2.
- [178] J.C. Leung, L.Y. Chan, F.F. Li, S.C. Tang, K.W. Chan, T.M. Chan, M.F. Lam, A. Wieslander, K.N. Lai, Glucose degradation products downregulate ZO-1 expression in human peritoneal mesothelial cells: the role of VEGF, Nephrol. Dial. Transplant. 20 (2005) 1336–1349.
- [179] W.Y. Lui, W.M. Lee, C.Y. Cheng, Transforming growth factor beta3 regulates the dynamics of Sertoli cell tight junctions via the p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase pathway, Biol. Reprod. 68 (2003) 1597–1612.
- [180] W. Xia, D.D. Mruk, W.M. Lee, C.Y. Cheng, Differential interactions between transforming growth factor-beta3/TbetaR1, TAB1, and CD2AP disrupt blood-testis barrier and Sertoli-germ cell adhesion, J. Biol. Chem. 281 (2006) 16799–16813.
- [181] N. Miyamoto, Y. de Kozak, J.C. Jeanny, A. Glotin, F. Mascarelli, P. Massin, D. Benezra, F. Behar-Cohen, Placental growth factor-1 and epithelial haemato-retinal barrier breakdown: potential implication in the pathogenesis of diabetic retinopathy, Diabetologia 50 (2007) 461–470.
- [182] M. Grande, A. Franzen, J.O. Karlsson, L.E. Ericson, N.E. Heldin, M. Nilsson, Transforming growth factor-beta and epidermal growth factor synergistically stimulate epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) through a MEK-dependent mechanism in primary cultured pig thyrocytes, J. Cell Sci. 115 (2002) 4227–4236.
- [183] X. Tan, H. Egami, S. Ishikawa, T. Kurizaki, M. Hirota, M. Ogawa, Zonula occludens-1 (ZO-1) redistribution is involved in the regulation of cell dissociation in pancreatic cancer cells, Dig. Dis. Sci. 50 (2005) 1402–1409.
- [184] X. Tan, Y. Tamori, H. Egami, S. Ishikawa, T. Kurizaki, E. Takai, M. Hirota, M. Ogawa, Analysis of invasion-metastasis mechanism in pancreatic cancer: involvement of tight junction transmembrane protein occludin and MEK/ERK signal transduction pathway in cancer cell dissociation, Oncol. Rep. 11 (2004) 993–998.
- [185] H. Pu, J. Tian, I.E. Andras, K. Hayashi, G. Flora, B. Hennig, M. Toborek, HIV-1 Tat protein-induced alterations of ZO-1 expression are mediated by redox-regulated ERK 1/2 activation, J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 25 (2005) 1325–1335.
- [186] I.E. Andras, H. Pu, J. Tian, M.A. Deli, A. Nath, B. Hennig, M. Toborek, Signaling mechanisms of HIV-1 Tat-induced alterations of claudin-5 expression in brain endothelial cells, J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 25 (2005) 1159–1170.
- [187] C. Chen, X.H. Lu, S. Yan, H. Chai, Q. Yao, HIV protease inhibitor ritonavir increases endothelial monolayer permeability, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 335 (2005) 874–882.
- [188] E. Vikstrom, F. Tafazoli, K.E. Magnusson, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* quorum sensing molecule *N*-(3 oxododecanoyl)-L-homoserine lactone disrupts epithelial barrier integrity of Caco-2 cells, FEBS Lett. 580 (2006) 6921–6928.
- [189] C. Jacob, P.C. Yang, D. Darmoul, S. Amadesi, T. Saito, G.S. Cottrell, A.M. Coelho, P. Singh, E.F. Grady, M. Perdue, N.W. Bunnett, Mast cell

tryptase controls paracellular permeability of the intestine. Role of protease-activated receptor 2 and beta-arrestins, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 31936–31948.

- [190] D. Czerucka, S. Dahan, B. Mograbi, B. Rossi, P. Rampal, Saccharomyces boulardii preserves the barrier function and modulates the signal transduction pathway induced in enteropathogenic Escherichia coliinfected T84 cells, Infect. Immun. 68 (2000) 5998–6004.
- [191] R. Macek, K. Swisshelm, M. Kubbies, Expression and function of tight junction associated molecules in human breast tumor cells is not affected by the Ras-MEK1 pathway, Cell. Mol. Biol. (Noisy.-Le-Grand) 49 (2003) 1–11.
- [192] C.P. Armstrong, T.V. Taylor, H.B. Torrence, Ionic flux and mucosal ultrastructure in the rat bile-pancreatic duct. Effect of bile salt perfusion on duct integrity, Dig. Dis. Sci. 32 (1987) 861–871.
- [193] R.E. Luthen, C. Niederau, J.H. Grendell, Effects of bile and pancreatic digestive enzymes on permeability of the pancreatic duct system in rabbits, Pancreas 8 (1993) 671–681.
- [194] Y. Wang, J. Zhang, X.J. Yi, F.S. Yu, Activation of ERK1/2 MAP kinase pathway induces tight junction disruption in human corneal epithelial cells, Exp. Eye Res. 78 (2004) 125–136.
- [195] M.U. Naik, D. Vuppalanchi, U.P. Naik, Essential role of junctional adhesion molecule-1 in basic fibroblast growth factor-induced endothelial cell migration, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 23 (2003) 2165–2171.
- [196] M.U. Naik, U.P. Naik, Junctional adhesion molecule-A-induced endothelial cell migration on vitronectin is integrin alpha v beta 3 specific, J. Cell Sci. 119 (2006) 490–499.
- [197] M. Murata, T. Kojima, T. Yamamoto, M. Go, K. Takano, M. Osanai, H. Chiba, N. Sawada, Down-regulation of survival signaling through MAPK and Akt in occludin-deficient mouse hepatocytes in vitro, Exp. Cell Res. 310 (2005) 140–151.
- [198] P.T. Hawkins, K.E. Anderson, K. Davidson, L.R. Stephens, Signalling through Class I PI3Ks in mammalian cells, Biochem. Soc. Trans. 34 (2006) 647–662.
- [199] A.V. Bakin, A.K. Tomlinson, N.A. Bhowmick, H.L. Moses, C.L. Arteaga, Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase function is required for transforming growth factor beta-mediated epithelial to mesenchymal transition and cell migration, J. Biol. Chem. 275 (2000) 36803–36810.
- [200] D. Medici, E.D. Hay, D.A. Goodenough, Cooperation between Snail and LEF-1 transcription factors is essential for TGF-{beta}1-induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition, Mol. Biol. Cell 17 (4) (2006) 1871-1879.
- [201] D. Little, R.A. Dean, K.M. Young, S.A. McKane, L.D. Martin, S.L. Jones, A.T. Blikslager, PI3K signaling is required for prostaglandininduced mucosal recovery in ischemia-injured porcine ileum, Am. J. Physiol.: Gasterointest. Liver Physiol. 284 (2003) G46–G56.
- [202] J.M. Anderson, B.R. Stevenson, L.A. Jesaitis, D.A. Goodenough, M.S. Mooseker, Characterization of ZO-1, a protein component of the tight junction from mouse liver and Madin–Darby canine kidney cells, J. Cell Biol. 106 (1988) 1141–1149.
- [203] P.D. Ward, R.R. Klein, M.D. Troutman, S. Desai, D.R. Thakker, Phospholipase C-gamma modulates epithelial tight junction permeability through hyperphosphorylation of tight junction proteins, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 35760–35765.
- [204] B.E. Jaramillo, A. Ponce, J. Moreno, A. Betanzos, M. Huerta, E. Lopez-Bayghen, L. Gonzalez-Mariscal, Characterization of the tight junction protein ZO-2 localized at the nucleus of epithelial cells, Exp. Cell Res. 297 (2004) 247–258.
- [205] L. Gonzalez-Mariscal, A. Ponce, L. Alarcon, B.E. Jaramillo, The tight junction protein ZO-2 has several functional nuclear export signals, Exp. Cell Res. 312 (2006) 3323–3335.
- [206] H. Kurihara, J.M. Anderson, M.G. Farquhar, Increased Tyr phosphorylation of ZO-1 during modification of tight junctions between glomerular foot processes, Am. J. Physiol. 268 (1995) F514–F524.
- [207] C.M. Van Itallie, M.S. Balda, J.M. Anderson, Epidermal growth factor induces tyrosine phosphorylation and reorganization of the tight junction protein ZO-1 in A431 cells, J. Cell Sci. 108 (Pt 4) (1995) 1735–1742.

- [208] T. Tsukamoto, S.K. Nigam, Role of tyrosine phosphorylation in the reassembly of occludin and other tight junction proteins, Am. J. Physiol. 276 (1999) F737–F750.
- [209] G. Kale, A.P. Naren, P. Sheth, R.K. Rao, Tyrosine phosphorylation of occludin attenuates its interactions with ZO-1, ZO-2, and ZO-3, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 302 (2003) 324–329.
- [210] S. Basuroy, P. Sheth, D. Kuppuswamy, S. Balasubramanian, R.M. Ray, R.K. Rao, Expression of kinase-inactive c-Src delays oxidative stressinduced disassembly and accelerates calcium-mediated reassembly of tight junctions in the Caco-2 cell monolayer, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 11916–11924.
- [211] R.K. Rao, S. Basuroy, V.U. Rao, K.J. Karnaky Jr., A. Gupta, Tyrosine phosphorylation and dissociation of occludin-ZO-1 and E-cadherin-betacatenin complexes from the cytoskeleton by oxidative stress, Biochem. J. 368 (2002) 471–481.
- [212] H. Takeda, S. Tsukita, Effects of tyrosine phosphorylation on tight junctions in temperature-sensitive v-src-transfected MDCK cells, Cell Struct. Funct. 20 (1995) 387–393.
- [213] M. Jin, E. Barron, S. He, S.J. Ryan, D.R. Hinton, Regulation of RPE intercellular junction integrity and function by hepatocyte growth factor, Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 43 (2002) 2782–2790.
- [214] F. Hollande, E.M. Blanc, J.P. Bali, R.H. Whitehead, A. Pelegrin, G.S. Baldwin, A. Choquet, HGF regulates tight junctions in new nontumorigenic gastric epithelial cell line, Am. J. Physiol.: Gasterointest. Liver Physiol. 280 (2001) G910–G921.
- [215] M. Staddon, K. Herrenknecht, C. Smales, L.L. Rubin, Evidence that tyrosine phosphorylation may increase tight junction permeability, J. Cell Sci. 108 (Pt 2) (1995) 609–619.
- [216] T. Kaihara, H. Kawamata, J. Imura, S. Fujii, K. Kitajima, F. Omotehara, N. Maeda, T. Nakamura, T. Fujimori, Redifferentiation and ZO-1 reexpression in liver-metastasized colorectal cancer: possible association with epidermal growth factor receptor-induced tyrosine phosphorylation of ZO-1, Cancer Sci. 94 (2003) 166–172.
- [217] A. Simard, E. Di Pietro, C.R. Young, S. Plaza, A.K. Ryan, Alterations in heart looping induced by overexpression of the tight junction protein claudin-1 are dependent on its C-terminal cytoplasmic tail, Mech. Dev. 123 (2006) 210–227.
- [218] C. Rahner, L.L. Mitic, J.M. Anderson, Heterogeneity in expression and subcellular localization of claudins 2, 3, 4, and 5 in the rat liver, pancreas, and gut, Gastroenterology 120 (2001) 411–422.
- [219] G.A. Quamme, Renal magnesium handling: new insights in understanding old problems, Kidney Int. 52 (1997) 1180–1195.
- [220] P.J. Kausalya, S. Amasheh, D. Gunzel, H. Wurps, D. Muller, M. Fromm, W. Hunziker, Disease-associated mutations affect intracellular traffic and paracellular Mg²⁺ transport function of claudin-16, J. Clin. Invest. 116 (2006) 878–891.
- [221] D. Muller, P.J. Kausalya, I.C. Meij, W. Hunziker, Familial hypomagnesemia with hypercalciuria and nephrocalcinosis: blocking endocytosis restores surface expression of a novel claudin-16 mutant that lacks the entire C-terminal cytosolic tail, Hum. Mol. Genet. 15 (2006) 1049–1058.
- [222] D. Muller, P.J. Kausalya, F. Claverie-Martin, I.C. Meij, P. Eggert, V. Garcia-Nieto, W. Hunziker, A novel claudin 16 mutation associated with childhood hypercalciuria abolishes binding to ZO-1 and results in lysosomal mistargeting, Am. J. Hum. Genet. 73 (2003) 1293–1301.
- [223] J. Alroy, Ultrastructure of canine urinary bladder carcinoma, Vet. Pathol. 16 (1979) 693–701.
- [224] A. Martinez-Palomo, Ultrastructural modifications of intercellular junctions in some epithelial tumors, Lab. Invest. 22 (1970) 605–614.
- [225] H. Robenek, C. Schopper, E. Fasske, R. Fetting, H. Themann, Structure and function of the junctional complement of spontaneous and transplanted murine mammary carcinomas, J. Submicrosc. Cytol. 13 (1981) 347–363.
- [226] J.G. Swift, T.M. Mukherjee, R. Rowland, Intercellular junctions in hepatocellular carcinoma, J. Submicrosc. Cytol. 15 (1983) 799–810.
- [227] A.P. Soler, R.D. Miller, K.V. Laughlin, N.Z. Carp, D.M. Klurfeld, J.M. Mullin, Increased tight junctional permeability is associated with the development of colon cancer, Carcinogenesis 20 (1999) 1425–1431.

- [228] M. Fujibe, H. Chiba, T. Kojima, T. Soma, T. Wada, T. Yamashita, N. Sawada, Thr203 of claudin-1, a putative phosphorylation site for MAP kinase, is required to promote the barrier function of tight junctions, Exp. Cell Res. 295 (2004) 36–47.
- [229] F.H. Wilson, S. Disse-Nicodeme, K.A. Choate, K. Ishikawa, C. Nelson-Williams, I. Desitter, M. Gunel, D.V. Milford, G.W. Lipkin, J.M. Achard, M.P. Feely, B. Dussol, Y. Berland, R.J. Unwin, H. Mayan, D.B. Simon, Z. Farfel, X. Jeunemaitre, R.P. Lifton, Human hypertension caused by mutations in WNK kinases, Science 293 (2001) 1107–1112.
- [230] G. Gamba, Role of WNK kinases in regulating tubular salt and potassium transport and in the development of hypertension, Am. J. Physiol., Renal Fluid Electrolyte Physiol. 288 (2005) F245–F252.
- [231] K. Yamauchi, T. Rai, K. Kobayashi, E. Sohara, T. Suzuki, T. Itoh, S. Suda, A. Hayama, S. Sasaki, S. Uchida, Disease-causing mutant WNK4 increases paracellular chloride permeability and phosphorylates claudins, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 101 (2004) 4690–4694.
- [232] A. Ohta, S.S. Yang, T. Rai, M. Chiga, S. Sasaki, S. Uchida, Overexpression of human WNK1 increases paracellular chloride permeability and phosphorylation of claudin-4 in MDCKII cells, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 349 (2006) 804–808.
- [233] C. Le Moellic, S. Boulkroun, D. Gonzalez-Nunez, I. Dublineau, F. Cluzeaud, M. Fay, M. Blot-Chabaud, N. Farman, Aldosterone and tight junctions: modulation of claudin-4 phosphorylation in renal collecting duct cells, Am. J. Physiol., Cell Physiol. 289 (2005) C1513–C1521.
- [234] M. Tanaka, R. Kamata, R. Sakai, EphA2 phosphorylates the cytoplasmic tail of claudin-4 and mediates paracellular permeability, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 42375–42382.
- [235] M. Tanaka, R. Kamata, R. Sakai, Phosphorylation of ephrin-B1 via the interaction with claudin following cell-cell contact formation, EMBO J. 24 (2005) 3700–3711.
- [236] A. Sakakibara, M. Furuse, M. Saitou, Y. Ando-Akatsuka, S. Tsukita, Possible involvement of phosphorylation of occludin in tight junction formation, J. Cell Biol. 137 (1997) 1393–1401.
- [237] P. Farshori, B. Kachar, Redistribution and phosphorylation of occludin during opening and resealing of tight junctions in cultured epithelial cells, J. Membr. Biol. 170 (1999) 147–156.
- [238] V. Wong, Phosphorylation of occludin correlates with occludin localization and function at the tight junction, Am. J. Physiol. 273 (1997) C1859–C1867.
- [239] B. Sheth, B. Moran, J.M. Anderson, T.P. Fleming, Post-translational control of occludin membrane assembly in mouse trophectoderm: a mechanism to regulate timing of tight junction biogenesis and blastocyst formation, Development 127 (2000) 831–840.
- [240] M. Cordenonsi, E. Mazzon, L. De Rigo, S. Baraldo, F. Meggio, S. Citi, Occludin dephosphorylation in early development of *Xenopus laevis*, J. Cell Sci. 110 (Pt 24) (1997) 3131–3139.
- [241] I. Simonovic, J. Rosenberg, A. Koutsouris, G. Hecht, Enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* dephosphorylates and dissociates occludin from intestinal epithelial tight junctions, Cell. Microbiol. 2 (2000) 305–315.
- [242] M.L. Chen, Z. Ge, J.G. Fox, D.B. Schauer, Disruption of tight junctions and induction of proinflammatory cytokine responses in colonic epithelial cells by *Campylobacter jejuni*, Infect. Immun. 74 (2006) 6581–6589.
- [243] J.Y. Kim, U.S. Sajjan, G.P. Krasan, J.J. LiPuma, Disruption of tight junctions during traversal of the respiratory epithelium by *Burkholderia cenocepacia*, Infect. Immun. 73 (2005) 7107–7112.
- [244] L. Zhu, X. Li, R. Zeng, G.I. Gorodeski, Changes in tight junctional resistance of the cervical epithelium are associated with modulation of content and phosphorylation of occludin 65-kilodalton and 50-kilodalton forms, Endocrinology 147 (2006) 977–989.
- [245] H. Clarke, A.P. Soler, J.M. Mullin, Protein kinase C activation leads to dephosphorylation of occludin and tight junction permeability increase in LLC-PK1 epithelial cell sheets, J. Cell Sci. 113 (Pt 18) (2000) 3187–3196.
- [246] P.E. Spoerri, A. Afzal, C.S. Li, L.C. Shaw, J. Cai, H. Pan, M. Boulton, M.B. Grant, Effects of VEGFR-1, VEGFR-2, and IGF-IR hammerhead ribozymes on glucose-mediated tight junction expression in cultured human retinal endothelial cells, Mol. Vis. 12 (2006) 32–42.

- [247] D.A. Antonetti, A.J. Barber, L.A. Hollinger, E.B. Wolpert, T.W. Gardner, Vascular endothelial growth factor induces rapid phosphorylation of tight junction proteins occludin and zonula occluden 1. A potential mechanism for vascular permeability in diabetic retinopathy and tumors, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 23463–23467.
- [248] N.S. Harhaj, E.A. Felinski, E.B. Wolpert, J.M. Sundstrom, T.W. Gardner, D.A. Antonetti, VEGF activation of protein kinase C stimulates occludin phosphorylation and contributes to endothelial permeability, Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 47 (2006) 5106–5115.
- [249] J.L. Underwood, C.G. Murphy, J. Chen, L. Franse-Carman, I. Wood, D.L. Epstein, J.A. Alvarado, Glucocorticoids regulate transendothelial fluid flow resistance and formation of intercellular junctions, Am. J. Physiol. 277 (1999) C330–C342.
- [250] D.A. Antonetti, E.B. Wolpert, L. DeMaio, N.S. Harhaj, R.C. Scaduto Jr., Hydrocortisone decreases retinal endothelial cell water and solute flux coincident with increased content and decreased phosphorylation of occludin, J. Neurochem. 80 (2002) 667–677.
- [251] A. Pedram, M. Razandi, E.R. Levin, Deciphering vascular endothelial cell growth factor/vascular permeability factor signaling to vascular permeability. Inhibition by atrial natriuretic peptide, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 44385–44398.
- [252] Y. Persidsky, D. Heilman, J. Haorah, M. Zelivyanskaya, R. Persidsky, G.A. Weber, H. Shimokawa, K. Kaibuchi, T. Ikezu, Rho-mediated regulation of tight junctions during monocyte migration across the blood-brain barrier in HIV-1 encephalitis (HIVE), Blood 107 (2006) 4770–4780.
- [253] S.M. Stamatovic, O.B. Dimitrijevic, R.F. Keep, A.V. Andjelkovic, Protein kinase Calpha-RhoA cross-talk in CCL2-induced alterations in brain endothelial permeability, J. Biol. Chem. 281 (2006) 8379–8388.
- [254] J. Haorah, D. Heilman, B. Knipe, J. Chrastil, J. Leibhart, A. Ghorpade, D.W. Miller, Y. Persidsky, Ethanol-induced activation of myosin light chain kinase leads to dysfunction of tight junctions and blood-brain barrier compromise, Alcohol., Clin. Exp. Res. 29 (2005) 999–1009.
- [255] J. Haorah, B. Knipe, J. Leibhart, A. Ghorpade, Y. Persidsky, Alcoholinduced oxidative stress in brain endothelial cells causes blood-brain barrier dysfunction, J. Leukoc. Biol. 78 (2005) 1223–1232.
- [256] T. Hirase, S. Kawashima, E.Y. Wong, T. Ueyama, Y. Rikitake, S. Tsukita, M. Yokoyama, J.M. Staddon, Regulation of tight junction permeability and occludin phosphorylation by Rhoa-p160ROCKdependent and -independent mechanisms, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 10423–10431.
- [257] A.Y. Andreeva, E. Krause, E.C. Muller, I.E. Blasig, D.I. Utepbergenov, Protein kinase C regulates the phosphorylation and cellular localization of occludin, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 38480–38486.
- [258] M. Cordenonsi, F. Turco, F. D'Atri, E. Hammar, G. Martinucci, F. Meggio, S. Citi, *Xenopus laevis* occludin. Identification of in vitro phosphorylation sites by protein kinase CK2 and association with cingulin, Eur. J. Biochem. 264 (1999) 374–384.
- [259] C. Smales, M. Ellis, R. Baumber, N. Hussain, H. Desmond, J.M. Staddon, Occludin phosphorylation: identification of an occludin kinase in brain and cell extracts as CK2, FEBS Lett. 545 (2003) 161–166.
- [260] J.A. McKenzie, K. Riento, A.J. Ridley, Casein kinase I epsilon associates with and phosphorylates the tight junction protein occludin, FEBS Lett. 580 (2006) 2388–2394.
- [261] S. Basuroy, P. Sheth, C.M. Mansbach, R.K. Rao, Acetaldehyde disrupts tight junctions and adherens junctions in human colonic mucosa: protection by EGF and L-glutamine, Am. J. Physiol.: Gasterointest. Liver Physiol. 289 (2005) G367–G375.
- [262] C. Lohmann, M. Krischke, J. Wegener, H.J. Galla, Tyrosine phosphatase inhibition induces loss of blood-brain barrier integrity by matrix metalloproteinase-dependent and -independent pathways, Brain Res. 995 (2004) 184–196.
- [263] N.T. Collins, P.M. Cummins, O.C. Colgan, G. Ferguson, Y.A. Birney, R.P. Murphy, G. Meade, P.A. Cahill, Cyclic strain-mediated regulation of vascular endothelial occludin and ZO-1: influence on intercellular tight junction assembly and function, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 26 (2006) 62–68.

- [264] Z. Pang, D.A. Antonetti, J.M. Tarbell, Shear stress regulates HUVEC hydraulic conductivity by occludin phosphorylation, Ann. Biomed. Eng. 33 (2005) 1536–1545.
- [265] T. Kago, N. Takagi, I. Date, Y. Takenaga, K. Takagi, S. Takeo, Cerebral ischemia enhances tyrosine phosphorylation of occludin in brain capillaries, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 339 (2006) 1197–1203.
- [266] I.E. Andras, M.A. Deli, S. Veszelka, K. Hayashi, B. Hennig, M. Toborek, The NMDA and AMPA/KA receptors are involved in glutamate-induced alterations of occludin expression and phosphorylation in brain endothelial cells, J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 27 (8) (2007) 1431–1443.
- [267] L. DeMaio, M. Rouhanizadeh, S. Reddy, A. Sevanian, J. Hwang, T.K. Hsiai, Oxidized phospholipids mediate occludin expression and phos-

phorylation in vascular endothelial cells, Am. J. Physiol, Heart Circ. Physiol. 290 (2006) H674-H683.

- [268] G. Kale, A.P. Naren, P. Sheth, R.K. Rao, Tyrosine phosphorylation of occludin attenuates its interactions with ZO-1, ZO-2, and ZO-3, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 302 (2003) 324–329.
- [269] Y.H. Chen, Q. Lu, D.A. Goodenough, B. Jeansonne, Nonreceptor tyrosine kinase c-Yes interacts with occludin during tight junction formation in canine kidney epithelial cells, Mol. Biol. Cell 13 (2002) 1227–1237.
- [270] P.V. Usatyuk, N.L. Parinandi, V. Natarajan, Redox regulation of 4hydroxy-2-nonenal-mediated endothelial barrier dysfunction by focal adhesion, adherens, and tight junction proteins, J. Biol. Chem. 281 (2006) 35554–35566.